**Regular Article - Theoretical Physics** 



# Bottom quark and tau lepton masses in a toy SU(6) model

Ning Chen<sup>1,a</sup>, Ying-nan Mao<sup>2,b</sup>, Zhaolong Teng<sup>1,c</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Physics, Nankai University, Tianjin 300071, China

<sup>2</sup> Department of Physics, School of Science, Wuhan University of Technology, Wuhan 430070, Hubei, China

Received: 28 September 2022 / Accepted: 7 March 2023 / Published online: 28 March 2023 © The Author(s) 2023

Abstract We study a toy SU(6) model with the symmetry breaking pattern of the extended 331 symmetry of  $SU(3)_c \otimes SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X$ . A "fermion-Higgs mismatching" symmetry breaking pattern is proposed for more realistic model building. Within such symmetry breaking pattern, only one Higgs doublet develops vacuum expectation value for the spontaneous electroweak symmetry breaking, and gives tree-level top quark mass. A natural VEV splittings in the 331 breaking Higgs fields gives tree-level masses to both bottom quark and tau lepton. The 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson discovered at the LHC can have Yukawa couplings to bottom quark and tau lepton as in the SM prediction, and this suggests the 331 symmetry breaking scale to be  $\sim O(10)$  TeV.

## Contents

1	Introduction	1						
2	Dne-generational SU(6)							
	2.1 The symmetry breaking pattern	3						
	2.2 An example: SU(8) with three generations	4						
3	The Higgs sector of the $SU(6)$	5						
	3.1 The Higgs potential	5						
	3.2 The charged and CP-odd Higgs bosons	7						
	3.3 The CP-even Higgs bosons	8						
	3.4 Summary of the Higgs spectrum	9						
4	Bottom quark and tau lepton masses in the $SU(6)$ .	9						
	4.1 The Yukawa couplings	9						
	4.2 The bottom quark mass	10						
	4.3 The tau lepton mass	11						
	4.4 The possible radiative mechanism	12						
5	Conclusions	12						

Α	The	gauge symmetry breaking in the 331 model			13
	A.1	The 331 gauge bosons			13
	A.2	The gauge couplings of fermions			14
	A.3	The mass matrices of the Higgs bosons			15
	A.4	The Yukawa couplings of fermions			15
Re	fere	nces	•	•	16

## 1 Introduction

Grand Unified Theories (GUTs) [1,2] were proposed to unify all fundamental interactions and elementary particles described by the Standard Model (SM) at the electroweak (EW) scale. Meanwhile, a unified description of the generational structure as well as the SM fermion mass hierarchies have not been realized in terms of the SU(5) or SO(10)GUTs. This is largely due to the fact that three generations of SM fermions are accommodated in the SU(5) or SO(10) GUTs by simple repetition of one anomaly-free fermion generation. Consequently, the symmetry breaking patterns do not provide any source for the observed SM fermion mass hierarchies. It was pointed out and discussed in Refs. [3-7] that multiple fermion generations, such as  $n_g = 3$  for the SM case, can be embedded non-trivially in GUT groups of SU(7) and beyond.<sup>1</sup> Therefore, it is natural to conjecture that the SM fermion mass hierarchies may originate from the intermediate symmetry breaking scale of some non-minimal GUT with SU( $N \ge 7$ ) [4,5]. Historically, the embedding of the SM generations as well as fermion mass hierarchies were studied in the context of technicolor and extended technicolor models [8-12], where the symmetry breakings are due to the fermion bi-linear condensates. Given the discovery of a single 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson at the Large

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> e-mail: chenning\_symmetry@nankai.edu.cn (corresponding author)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>e-mail: ynmao@whut.edu.cn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>e-mail: tengcl@mail.nankai.edu.cn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Such a scenario is different from the flavors with certain flavor symmetries, and is named as "flavors without flavor symmetries", see Refs. [6,7] for the recent discussions on the fermion mass generation from non-minimal GUTs.

Hadron Collider (LHC) [13,14] until now, it is pragmatic to revisit the flavor issue in the framework of GUTs, where the spontaneous symmetry breakings are achieved by the Higgs mechanism.

Besides of addressing the flavor puzzle, it was also pointed out that the non-minimal GUTs can automatically give rise to the global Peccei–Quinn (PQ) symmetry [16] for the strong CP problem.<sup>2</sup> This is due to the emergent global symmetry of SU(N)  $\otimes$  U(1) in the rank-2 anti-symmetric SU(N + 4) gauge theories (with  $N \ge 2$ ), which was first pointed out by Dimopoulos, Raby, and Susskind [17]. In this regard, the longstanding flavor puzzle as well as the PQ quality problem [18–20] may be simultaneously addressed within the nonminimal GUTs.<sup>3</sup>

Before the ambitious goal of understanding the known SM fermion mass hierarchies in realistic non-minimal GUTs, it will be useful to ask whether the minimal version of this class already had some general properties in producing the SM fermion masses. Among various non-minimal GUTs with SU( $N \ge 7$ ), indeed, an extended gauge symmetry of  $\mathcal{G}_{331} \equiv$  $SU(3)_c \otimes SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X$  above the EW scale is usually predicted.<sup>4</sup> This class of models are collectively known as the 331 model, and were previously studied in Refs. [22–50]. This motivates us to consider the SU(6) as a one-generational toy model,<sup>5</sup> which can be spontaneously broken to  $\mathcal{G}_{331}$  by its adjoint Higgs field of  $35_{\rm H}$ . An advantage of considering the one-generational SU(6) instead of the 331 model is that one can uniquely define the electric charges for both fermions and gauge bosons in the spectrum. Meanwhile, the previous studies based on the 331 model itself often allowed different charge quantization schemes [24, 37, 39, 44, 48], which could potentially lead to fermions with exotic electric charges.

After the GUT symmetry breaking, there can be three  $SU(3)_W$  anti-fundamental Higgs fields in the 331 model. In the previous studies, only one of them developed a vacuum expectation value (VEV) of  $V_{331}$  for the symmetry breaking of  $SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X \rightarrow SU(2)_W \otimes U(1)_Y$ , while two others developed VEVs of  $v_{EW} \simeq 246$  GeV for the electroweak symmetry breaking (EWSB). According to the Yukawa couplings, one can identify a type-II two-Higgs-doublet model (2HDM) at the EW scale for the 331 model. By extending to larger non-minimal GUTs for  $n_g = 3$ , such as SU(9) as our example, the conventional symmetry breaking pattern in the 331 model predicts more than two EW Higgs doublets. This

is certainly very problematic given that the direct searches for the second Higgs doublet at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) give null results so far. Motivated by the general features in the Higgs sector of the non-minimal GUT, we study the alternative symmetry breaking pattern with only one EW Higgs doublet coming from the  $15_{\rm H}$  of the SU(6). An immediate question is how do bottom quark and tau lepton acquire masses given the vanishing tree-level Yukawa couplings. It turns out their masses can only be obtained when two  $SU(3)_W$ anti-fundamental Higgs fields from  $\overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho=1,2}$  develop VEVs both for the 331 and EW symmetry breaking directions. A natural mass splitting between the top quark and the  $(b, \tau)$ in the third generation can be achieved with  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  Yukawa couplings. The corresponding 331 breaking scale is found to be  $V_{331} \sim \mathcal{O}(10)$  TeV from the Yukawa couplings of the SM-like Higgs boson with the  $(b, \tau)$ . Historically, a universal  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  Yukawa coupling was motivated by observing the natural top quark mass at the EW scale, and this was generalized as the anarchical fermion mass scenario in the studies of the neutrino masses [51, 52]. We also wish to remind the readers, the whole discussions are based on the 331 model due to the minimal one-generational SU(6) symmetry breaking. Aside from the SM fermion masses, we do not address some general questions of gauge coupling unification or proton lifetime predictions. Neither do we determine whether a supersymmetric extension to the current model is necessary, with the belief that this would better be studied in more realistic models with  $n_g = 3$ . Some related discussions can be found in Refs. [41,43,46].

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, we motivate the possible symmetry breaking pattern from two independent aspects in the toy SU(6) model, which leads to only one Higgs doublet for the spontaneous EWSB. In Sect. 3, we describe the Higgs sector in the SU(6) GUT, with the emphasis on the reasonable mass generations to the bottom quark and tau lepton through the Yukawa couplings. In Sect. 4, we describe the bottom quark and tau lepton masses in the toy SU(6) model based on the reasonable symmetry breaking pattern as well as the VEV assignment. Some comments will be made for the necessary condition of the radiative mass generation in the current context. We summarize our results and make discussions in Sect. 5. An Appendix A is provided to summarize the gauge sector as well as the fermion Yukawa couplings of the 331 model. All Lie group calculations in this work are carried out by LieART [53,54].

#### 2 One-generational SU(6)

The minimal anomaly-free SU(6) GUT contains the lefthanded fermions of

$$\{f_L\}_{\mathrm{SU}(6)} = \overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathrm{F}}}^{\rho} \oplus \mathbf{15}_{\mathrm{F}}, \quad \rho = 1, 2.$$
 (1)

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The first example was based on the rank-2 SU(9) theory [15], where the fermion content of  $[5\times\overline{9_F}]\oplus 36_F$  enjoys the SU(5)  $\otimes$  U(1) global symmetry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Recently, it was realized [21] that the non-minimal GUTs with  $n_g = 3$  can generally lead to sufficiently large dimensional PQ-breaking operators for the later problem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A specific example will be given for the SU(9) GUT in Sect. 2.2.

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  The SU(6) turns out to be a toy model for the third generation in particular.

The fermion sector enjoys a global symmetry of

$$\mathcal{G}_{\text{flavor}} = \mathrm{SU}(2)_F \otimes \mathrm{U}(1)_{\mathrm{PQ}},\tag{2}$$

according to Ref. [17]. The most general Yukawa couplings that are invariant under the gauge symmetry are expressed  $as^{6}$ 

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y} = (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{\rho\sigma} \mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{F}} \overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathbf{F}}}^{\rho} \overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\sigma} + Y_{\mathcal{U}} \mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{H}} + H.c., \qquad (3)$$

where we allow the explicit  $SU(2)_F$ -breaking term in the Yukawa couplings, so that  $(Y_D)_{\rho\sigma} \neq Y_D \delta_{\rho\sigma}$ .

Below, we motivate our Higgs VEV assignments for the viable symmetry breaking from three different aspects, which include

- A the null results in searching for a second Higgs doublet at the LHC,
- $\mathfrak{B}$  the extension to the non-minimal GUTs with  $n_g = 3$ , e.g., the SU(8) GUT [6,7],
- $\mathfrak{C}$  the natural mass generation of the bottom quark and tau lepton with Yukawa couplings of  $\sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ .

## 2.1 The symmetry breaking pattern

The viable SU(6) breaking pattern is expected to be

$$SU(6) \xrightarrow{\Lambda_{GUT}} \mathcal{G}_{331} \xrightarrow{V_{331}} \mathcal{G}_{SM},$$
  

$$\mathcal{G}_{331} = SU(3)_c \otimes SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X,$$
  

$$\mathcal{G}_{SM} = SU(3)_c \otimes SU(2)_W \otimes U(1)_Y,$$
(4)

where the GUT scale symmetry breaking is achieved by an SU(6) adjoint Higgs field of  $\mathbf{35}_{\mathbf{H}}$ . The U(1)<sub>*X*</sub> charge for the  $\mathbf{6} \in SU(6)$  and U(1)<sub>*Y*</sub> charge for the  $\mathbf{3}_W \in SU(3)_W$  are defined by

$$X(\mathbf{6}) \equiv \operatorname{diag}\left(-\frac{1}{3}, -\frac{1}{3}, -\frac{1}{3}, +\frac{1}{3}, +\frac{1}{3}, +\frac{1}{3}\right),$$
(5a)

$$Y(\mathbf{3}_W) \equiv \text{diag}\left(\frac{1}{6} + X, \frac{1}{6} + X, -\frac{1}{3} + X\right).$$
 (5b)

The electric charge operator of the SU(3)<sub>W</sub> fundamental representation is expressed as a  $3 \times 3$  diagonal matrix

$$Q(\mathbf{3}_W) \equiv T_{\mathrm{SU}(3)}^3 + Y = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{2}{3} + X, -\frac{1}{3} + X, -\frac{1}{3} + X\right).(6)$$

with the first SU(3) Cartan generator of

$$T_{SU(3)}^3 = \frac{1}{2} \text{diag}(1, -1, 0).$$
 (7)

Accordingly, we find that Higgs fields in Eq. (3) are decomposed as follows

$$\overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho} = \left(\overline{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{1}, +\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho} \oplus \underbrace{\overbrace{\left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho}}^{\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},\rho}}}_{\mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{H}}},$$

$$\mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{H}} = \left(\overline{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{1}, -\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}} \oplus \underbrace{\overbrace{\left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, +\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}'}}_{\mathbf{H}} \oplus (\mathbf{3}, \mathbf{3}, 0)_{\mathbf{H}}, \quad (8)$$

for the symmetry breaking pattern in Eq. (4). Two  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{3}}, -\frac{1}{3})_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho} \subset \mathbf{\overline{6_H}}^{\rho}$  contain SM-singlet directions after the second stage symmetry breaking in Eq. (4). Meanwhile, the  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{2}}, +\frac{1}{2})_{\mathbf{H}} \subset (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{3}}, +\frac{2}{3})_{\mathbf{H}} \subset \mathbf{15_H}$  can only develop VEV to trigger the spontaneous EWSB of SU(2)<sub>W</sub>  $\otimes$  U(1)<sub>Y</sub>  $\rightarrow$  U(1)<sub>em</sub>. Under the symmetry breaking pattern in Eq. (4) and the charge quantization given in Eqs. (5a), (5b), and (6), we summarize the SU(6) fermions and their names in Table 1. For the SM fermions marked by solid underlines, we name them by the third generational SM fermions. This will become manifest from their mass origin within the current context.

In previous studies of the 331 model [22,24–38,45–49], there were two Higgs doublets at the EW scale, which come from the  $\overline{6_H}^1$  (chosen to be  $\rho = 1$  without loss of generality) and the 15<sub>H</sub>, respectively. Schematically, one expresses the VEVs of SU(3) anti-fundamentals as follows

$$\left\langle \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{1} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\v_{d}\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \left\langle \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{2} \right\rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\V_{331} \end{pmatrix}, \left\langle \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, +\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} v_{u}\\0\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (9)$$

with  $v_u^2 + v_d^2 = v_{EW}^2 \approx (246 \,\text{GeV})^2$ . In such a scenario, the bottom quark and tau lepton masses are given by Yukawa couplings as follows

$$\mathbf{15_{F}\overline{6_{H}}}^{1}\overline{6_{F}}^{1} + H.c. \supset \left[ (\mathbf{3},\mathbf{3},0)_{F} \otimes \left( \overline{\mathbf{3}},\mathbf{1},+\frac{1}{3} \right)_{F}^{1} \right] \\ \oplus \left( \mathbf{1},\overline{\mathbf{3}},+\frac{2}{3} \right)_{F} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1},\overline{\mathbf{3}},-\frac{1}{3} \right)_{F}^{1} \right] \\ \otimes \left( \mathbf{1},\overline{\mathbf{3}},-\frac{1}{3} \right)_{H}^{1} + H.c. \\ \supset \left[ \left( \mathbf{3},\mathbf{2},+\frac{1}{6} \right)_{F} \otimes \left( \overline{\mathbf{3}},\mathbf{1},+\frac{1}{3} \right)_{F}^{1} \right] \\ \oplus (\mathbf{1},\mathbf{1},+1)_{F} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1},\overline{\mathbf{2}},-\frac{1}{2} \right)_{F}^{1} \right] \\ \otimes \left( \mathbf{1},\overline{\mathbf{2}},-\frac{1}{2} \right)_{H}^{1} + H.c.,$$
(10)

Deringer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Other Yukawa couplings of  $\epsilon_{\rho\sigma}\overline{\mathbf{6}_{F}}^{\rho}\overline{\mathbf{6}_{F}}^{\sigma}(\mathbf{15_H} + \mathbf{21_H}) + H.c.$  are also possible. These terms are only relevant to neutrino masses, and we will neglect them in the current discussions.

while the top quark mass is given by Yukawa coupling as follows

$$15_{\rm F}15_{\rm F}15_{\rm H} + H.c. \supset (\mathbf{3}, \mathbf{3}, 0)_{\rm F} \otimes \left(\overline{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{1}, -\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\rm F}$$
$$\otimes \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, +\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\rm H} + H.c.$$
$$\supset \left(\mathbf{3}, \mathbf{2}, +\frac{1}{6}\right)_{\rm F} \otimes \left(\overline{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{1}, -\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\rm F}$$
$$\otimes \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{2}}, +\frac{1}{2}\right)_{\rm H} + H.c.$$
(11)

All charged fermion masses in the third generation are due to the spontaneous EWSB. Therefore, the Higgs sector at the EW scale is described by a type-II 2HDM.<sup>7</sup> Furthermore, the other Yukawa coupling of  $\mathbf{15_F}\overline{\mathbf{6_H}}^2 \mathbf{\overline{6_F}}^2 + H.c.$  give fermion masses of  $m_B = m_E = m_N \sim \mathcal{O}(V_{331})$  [46], according to the VEV assignment in Eq. (9). By integrating out these massive fermions, the residual massless fermions are found to be anomaly-free under the  $\mathcal{G}_{SM}$ . Loosely speaking, one anti-fundamental fermion of  $\overline{\mathbf{6_F}}^2$  acquires mass with one Higgs field of  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{3}}, -\frac{1}{3})_{\mathbf{H}}^2 \subset \mathbf{\overline{6_H}}^2$  developing its VEV of  $\mathcal{O}(V_{331})$ .<sup>8</sup> Thus, we name such symmetry breaking pattern as the "fermion-Higgs matching pattern".

However, the ongoing probes of the second Higgs doublet at the LHC lack direct evidences for the predicted neutral and charged Higgs bosons from various channels [56–67]. In the type-II 2HDM, hierarchical Yukawa couplings of  $Y_{\mathcal{U}} \gg Y_{\mathcal{D}}$  can be expected for the third-generational SM fermion masses. As will be shown below, the suppressed  $(b, \tau)$  masses can be realized with a more natural Yukawa couplings of  $Y_{\mathcal{U}} \sim Y_{\mathcal{D}} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  in the current context. Aside from the experimental facts, it is most natural to consider the following VEVs for the Higgs fields

$$\left\langle \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho=1,2} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\V_{\rho} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\left\langle \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, +\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} v_{u}\\0\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{12}$$

purely from the group theoretical point of view. Obviously, two  $\mathcal{G}_{331}$ -breaking VEVs in Eq. (12) are in the SM-singlet components, and one expects the natural hierarchy of  $V_1 \sim$  $V_2 \sim \mathcal{O}(V_{331}) \gg v_u = v_{\text{EW}}$ . By taking the SU(2)<sub>*F*</sub>invariant Yukawa couplings of  $(Y_D)_{\rho\sigma} = Y_D \delta_{\rho\sigma}$  in Eq. (3) for simplicity, we have the following mass terms

$$Y_{\mathcal{D}}\mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{F}}\overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho}\overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathbf{F}}}^{\rho} + H.c. \supset Y_{\mathcal{D}}\left[(\mathbf{3},\mathbf{3},0)_{\mathbf{F}}\otimes\left(\mathbf{1},\bar{\mathbf{3}},-\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho}\right]$$
$$\otimes\left(\mathbf{\overline{3}},\mathbf{1},+\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{F}}^{\rho}\oplus\left(\mathbf{1},\bar{\mathbf{3}},+\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{F}}$$
$$\otimes\left(\mathbf{1},\bar{\mathbf{3}},-\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho}\otimes\left(\mathbf{1},\bar{\mathbf{3}},-\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{F}}^{\rho}\right] + H.c.$$
$$\Rightarrow\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\bar{b}_{L},\bar{B}_{L})\cdot\left(\begin{array}{c}0&0\\Y_{\mathcal{D}}V_{1}&Y_{\mathcal{D}}V_{2}\end{array}\right)\cdot\left(\begin{array}{c}b_{R}\\B_{R}\end{array}\right)$$
$$+\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\bar{\tau}_{L},\bar{E}_{L})\cdot\left(\begin{array}{c}0&-Y_{\mathcal{D}}V_{1}\\0&-Y_{\mathcal{D}}V_{2}\end{array}\right)\cdot\left(\begin{array}{c}\tau_{R}\\E_{R}\end{array}\right) + H.c.,$$
(13)

with the alternative VEV assignment in Eq. (12). Clearly, both bottom quark and tau lepton remain massless after the spontaneous breaking of the 331 symmetry. Meanwhile, there is still only one anti-fundamental fermion of  $\overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathrm{F}}}^2$ becoming massive. In this regard, the alternative symmetry breaking pattern achieved by both  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{3}}, -\frac{1}{3})_{\mathrm{H}}^{\rho} \subset \mathbf{\overline{6}_{\mathrm{H}}}^{\rho}$  is also valid from the anomaly-free condition. Thus, we name the VEV assignment in Eq. (12) as the "fermion-Higgs mismatching pattern" of symmetry breaking. As we shall show below, this VEV assignment leads to a distinct Higgs spectrum from the 2HDM at the EW scale.

### 2.2 An example: SU(8) with three generations

Besides of the above phenomenological consideration, a better motivation of the current study can be made for nonminimal GUTs with multiple generations. Let us take the SU(8) GUT as an example, which can automatically lead to  $n_g = 3$  with the following fermion content [6,7]

$$\{f_L\}_{\mathrm{SU}(8)} = \left[\overline{\mathbf{8}_{\mathrm{F}}}^{\rho} \oplus \mathbf{28}_{\mathrm{F}}\right] \bigoplus \left[\overline{\mathbf{8}_{\mathrm{F}}}^{\dot{\rho}} \oplus \mathbf{56}_{\mathrm{F}}\right],\tag{14}$$

according to the rule in Ref. [3]. This setup enjoys an emergent global symmetry of  $[SU(4)_1 \otimes U(1)_1] \otimes [SU(5)_2 \otimes U(1)_2]$  [8,21], with the flavor indices of  $\rho = 1, \ldots, 4$  and  $\dot{\rho} = 5, \ldots, 9$ . To focus on the third-generational fermions, we only consider the rank-2 sector in Eq. (14).  $SU(4)_1$ -invariant Yukawa couplings of  $28_F \overline{8_H}^{\rho} \overline{8_F}^{\rho} + H.c.$  can be expected to give bottom quark and tau lepton masses, which are analogous to  $15_F \overline{6_H}^{\rho} \overline{6_F}^{\rho} + H.c.$  in the one-generational SU(6) model. Another gauge-invariant Yukawa coupling of  $28_F 28_F 70_H + H.c.$  is expected to give the top quark mass. A possible symmetry breaking pattern of SU(8) can be expected as follows

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{SU}(8) \xrightarrow{\Lambda_{\mathrm{GUT}}} \mathrm{SU}(4)_c \otimes \mathrm{SU}(4)_W \otimes \mathrm{U}(1)_{X_0} \xrightarrow{V_{441}} \mathrm{SU}(3)_c \\ & \otimes \mathrm{SU}(4)_W \otimes \mathrm{U}(1)_{X_1} \\ & \xrightarrow{V_{341}} \mathrm{SU}(3)_c \otimes \mathrm{SU}(3)_W \otimes \mathrm{U}(1)_{X_2} \xrightarrow{V_{331}} \mathrm{SU}(3)_c \\ & \otimes \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \otimes \mathrm{U}(1)_Y. \end{split}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This was also pointed out in Ref. [55], though a different symmetry breaking pattern was considered there.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In the current context, we do not discuss the mass origin for neutrinos of  $\widetilde{N}_L^{\rho} \subset \overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathbf{F}}}^{\rho}$ .

Here,  $(V_{441}, V_{341}, V_{331})$  represent three intermediate symmetry-breaking scales above the EW scale. The corresponding U(1) charges in Eq. (15) are defined by

$$X_0(\mathbf{8}) \equiv \operatorname{diag}\left(-\frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{4}, +\frac{1}{4}, +\frac{1}{4}, +\frac{1}{4}, +\frac{1}{4}, +\frac{1}{4}\right), \quad (16a)$$

$$X_1(\mathbf{4}_c) \equiv \operatorname{diag}\left(-\frac{1}{12} + X_0, -\frac{1}{12} + X_0, -\frac{1}{12} + X_0, \frac{1}{4} + X_0\right), \quad (16b)$$

$$X_2(\mathbf{4}_W) \equiv \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{12} + X_1, \frac{1}{12} + X_1, \frac{1}{12} + X_1, -\frac{1}{4} + X_1\right),$$
 (16c)

$$Y(\mathbf{4}_W) \equiv \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{4} + X_1, \frac{1}{4} + X_1, -\frac{1}{4} + X_1, -\frac{1}{4} + X_1\right).$$
(16d)

Following the above symmetry breaking pattern and charge quantizations in Eqs. (16), one can decompose the minimal set of Higgs fields as

$$\overline{\mathbf{8}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho} \supset \left(\overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{1}, +\frac{1}{4}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho} \oplus \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, -\frac{1}{4}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho}, \qquad (17a)$$

$$\left(\bar{\mathbf{4}},\mathbf{1},+\frac{1}{4}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho} = \left(\bar{\mathbf{3}},\mathbf{1},+\frac{1}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho} \oplus (\mathbf{1},\mathbf{1},0)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho},\tag{17b}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{70}_{\mathbf{H}} \supset \left(\mathbf{4}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, +\frac{1}{2}\right)_{\mathbf{H}} \supset \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, +\frac{3}{4}\right)_{\mathbf{H}} \\ \supset \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, +\frac{2}{3}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\prime\prime\prime} = \left(\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{2}}, +\frac{1}{2}\right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\prime\prime\prime} \oplus (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, +1)_{\mathbf{H}}. \end{aligned} (17d)$$

Both the  $\overline{\mathbf{8}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho}$  and the  $\mathbf{70}_{\mathbf{H}}$  contain the EWSB components of  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{2}}, -\frac{1}{2})_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho}$  and  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{2}}, +\frac{1}{2})_{\mathbf{H}}$ , respectively. Besides, the four  $\overline{\mathbf{8}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho}$  Higgs fields contain three singlet components for the intermediate symmetry breaking in Eq. (15). A more careful counting by the anomaly-free condition at each stage of symmetry breaking shows that the Higgs spectrum is left with one EW Higgs doublets from the  $\overline{\mathbf{8}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho}$  and one from the  $\mathbf{70}_{\mathbf{H}}$  if one adopted the "fermion-Higgs matching pattern" of symmetry breaking, as can be expected for the  $n_g = 3$  case. In this regard, to have a realistic Higgs spectrum at the EW scale, a "fermion-Higgs mismatching pattern" of the intermediate symmetry breaking can be generally expected.

#### **3** The Higgs sector of the SU(6)

In this section, we describe the Higgs sector according to the symmetry breaking pattern in Eq. (4), which consists of  $SU(3)_W$  anti-fundamentals of  $\Phi_{\overline{3},\rho} \equiv (\mathbf{1}, \overline{3}, -\frac{1}{3})_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho} \subset \overline{6}_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho}$  (with  $\rho = 1, 2$ ) and  $\Phi'_{\overline{3}} \equiv (\mathbf{1}, \overline{3}, +\frac{2}{3})_{\mathbf{H}} \subset \mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{H}}$  after the SU(6) GUT symmetry breaking.

#### 3.1 The Higgs potential

The most general SU(6) Higgs potential contains Higgs fields of  $(\overline{\mathbf{6}_{H}}^{\rho}, \mathbf{15}_{H}, \mathbf{35}_{H})$ . The adjoint Higgs field of  $\mathbf{35}_{H}$  is responsible for the GUT symmetry breaking of SU(6)  $\rightarrow \mathcal{G}_{331}$ . For our purpose, only the Higgs fields of  $(\overline{\mathbf{6}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho}, \mathbf{15}_{\mathbf{H}})$  will be relevant for the sequential symmetry breakings. At the GUT scale, the following terms can be expected in the Higgs potential

The Higgs potential contains the mass squared parameters of  $(m_{11}^2, m_{22}^2, m_{12}^2, m^2)$ , dimension-one parameter of  $\nu$ , and dimensionless self couplings of  $(\lambda_{1,...,5}, \lambda, \kappa_{1,...,4})$ . After the GUT symmetry breaking, we assume all SU(3)<sub>c</sub> colored components of  $(\overline{\mathbf{6}_{H}}^{\rho}, \mathbf{15}_{H})$  obtain heavy masses of  $\Lambda_{GUT}$ . The residual massless Higgs fields transforming under the SU(3)<sub>W</sub>  $\otimes$  U(1)<sub>X</sub> symmetry form the following Higgs potential

$$V_{\text{tot}} = V(\Phi_{\overline{3},\rho}) + V(\Phi'_{\overline{3}}) + V(\Phi_{\overline{3},\rho}, \Phi'_{\overline{3}}), \quad (19a)$$

$$V(\Phi_{\overline{3},\rho}) = m_{11}^{2} |\Phi_{\overline{3},1}|^{2} + m_{22}^{2} |\Phi_{\overline{3},2}|^{2} - \left(m_{12}^{2} \Phi_{\overline{3},1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{\overline{3},2} + H.c.\right) + \frac{\lambda_{1}}{2} |\Phi_{\overline{3},1}|^{4} + \frac{\lambda_{2}}{2} |\Phi_{\overline{3},2}|^{4} + \lambda_{3} |\Phi_{\overline{3},1}|^{2} |\Phi_{\overline{3},2}|^{2} + \lambda_{4} (\Phi_{\overline{3},1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{\overline{3},2}) (\Phi_{\overline{3},2}^{\dagger} \Phi_{\overline{3},1}) + \frac{\lambda_{5}}{2} \left[ (\Phi_{\overline{3},1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{\overline{3},2})^{2} + H.c. \right], \quad (19b)$$

$$V(\Phi'_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}) = m^2 |\Phi'_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}|^2 + \lambda |\Phi'_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}|^4,$$
(19c)

$$V(\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},\rho}, \Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}') = \left(\kappa_{1}|\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},1}|^{2} + \kappa_{2}|\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},2}|^{2}\right)|\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}'|^{2} + \kappa_{3}(\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},1}^{\dagger}\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}')(\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}'^{\dagger}\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},1}) + \kappa_{4}(\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},2}^{\dagger}\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}')(\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}'^{\dagger}\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},2}) + \left(\nu\epsilon_{IJK}(\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},1})_{I}(\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},2})_{J}(\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}')_{K} + H.c.\right).$$
(19d)

The last v-term in Eq. (19d) is inevitable by both the gauge symmetry and the emergent global  $SU(2)_F$  symmetry in Eq. (2), with I, J, K = 1, 2, 3 being the  $SU(3)_W$  anti-fundamental indices.

We denote the Higgs fields under the  $SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X$ representations as follows

$$\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}},\rho} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}\phi_{\rho}^{-} \\ \phi_{\rho} - i\eta_{\rho} \\ h_{\rho} - i\pi_{\rho} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} h_{u} + i\pi_{u} \\ \sqrt{2}\chi^{+} \\ \sqrt{2}\chi'^{+} \end{pmatrix},$$
(20)

where the electric charges are given according to Eq. (6). According to the VEV assignment in Eq. (12), we expect the non-vanishing Higgs VEVs of

$$\langle h_1 \rangle = V_1 = V_{331} c_{\tilde{\beta}}, \quad \langle h_2 \rangle = V_2 = V_{331} s_{\tilde{\beta}}, \quad \langle h_u \rangle = v_u,$$
(21)

with

$$t_{\tilde{\beta}} \equiv \frac{V_2}{V_1} \tag{22}$$

parametrizing the ratio between two 331 symmetry breaking VEVs. Accordingly, the minimization of the Higgs potential in Eqs. (19) leads to the following conditions

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial V_1} = 0 \Rightarrow m_{11}^2 = m_{12}^2 t_{\tilde{\beta}} - \frac{\lambda_1}{2} V_1^2 - \frac{\lambda_3 + \lambda_4 + \lambda_5}{2} V_2^2 - \frac{\kappa_1}{2} v_u^2, \qquad (23a)$$

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial V_2} = 0 \Rightarrow m_{22}^2 = \frac{m_{12}^2}{t_{\tilde{\beta}}} - \frac{\lambda_2}{2} V_2^2$$
$$-\frac{\lambda_3 + \lambda_4 + \lambda_5}{2} V_1^2 - \frac{\kappa_2}{2} v_u^2, \qquad (23b)$$

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial v_u} = 0 \Rightarrow m^2 = -\lambda v_u^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_1 V_1^2 + \kappa_2 V_2^2).$$
(23c)

Note that the  $\nu$ -term that mixes the  $\Phi_{\overline{3},\rho}$  and the  $\Phi'_{\overline{3}}$  does not enter the minimization condition with the VEV assignment in Eq. (12), while this term will be important in generating the fermion masses. Correspondingly, this leads to an unwanted tadpole term of  $-\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}\nu(\phi_1V_2 - \phi_2V_1)\nu_u$  in the Higgs potential.

To resolve the tadpole problem, the only way is to develop EWSB VEVs of

$$\langle \phi_1 \rangle = u_1 = v_\phi c_{\beta'}, \quad \langle \phi_2 \rangle = u_2 = v_\phi s_{\beta'}, \tag{24}$$

presumably with  $v_{\phi} \sim \mathcal{O}(v_{\text{EW}})$  as was considered in Refs. [40–43]. The Nambu–Goldstone boson (NGB) of  $\xi^0$  can be obtained from the following derivative terms

$$\sim \frac{i}{2\sqrt{2}} g_{3L} (N_{\mu} - \bar{N}_{\mu}) \partial^{\mu} \times [(u_1 h_1 + u_2 h_2) - (V_1 \phi_1 + V_2 \phi_2)] \Rightarrow \xi^0 = c_{\theta} (c_{\tilde{\beta}} \phi_1 + s_{\tilde{\beta}} \phi_2) - s_{\theta} (c_{\beta'} h_1 + s_{\beta'} h_2), \quad (25)$$

with

$$t_{\theta} \equiv \frac{v_{\phi}}{V_{331}} \tag{26}$$

parametrizing the ratio between two symmetry-breaking scales in each SU(3)<sub>W</sub> anti-fundamental Higgs of  $\Phi_{\overline{3},\rho}$ . With a natural assumption of the following VEV orthogonal relation of

$$\sum_{\rho} u_{\rho} V_{\rho} = 0 \Rightarrow \beta' = \tilde{\beta} - \frac{\pi}{2}, \qquad (27)$$

the potential mixing between the  $(W_{\mu}^{\pm}, C_{\mu}^{\pm})$ , as well as the  $(N_{\mu}, \bar{N}_{\mu}, Z'_{\mu})$ , can be avoided. This can be confirmed with the explicit gauge fields in terms of a 3 × 3 matrix given in Eq. (66). Thus, the VEVs in Eq. (24) become

$$\langle \phi_1 \rangle = u_1 = v_{\phi} s_{\tilde{\beta}}, \quad \langle \phi_2 \rangle = u_2 = -v_{\phi} c_{\tilde{\beta}}. \tag{28}$$

The minimization conditions of the Higgs potential in Eqs. (23) are modified to be

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial V_1} = 0 \Rightarrow m_{11}^2 = m_{12}^2 t_{\tilde{\beta}} - \frac{\lambda_1}{2} (V_1^2 + u_1^2) - \frac{\lambda_3}{2} (V_2^2 + u_2^2) - \frac{\lambda_4 + \lambda_5}{2} (u_1 u_2 + V_1 V_2) t_{\tilde{\beta}} - \frac{\kappa_1}{2} v_u^2 + \frac{\nu u_2 v_u}{\sqrt{2} V_1},$$
(29a)

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial V_2} = 0 \Rightarrow m_{22}^2 = \frac{m_{12}^2}{t_{\tilde{\beta}}} - \frac{\lambda_2}{2} (V_2^2 + u_2^2) - \frac{\lambda_3}{2} (V_1^2 + u_1^2) - \frac{\lambda_4 + \lambda_5}{2} (u_1 u_2 + V_1 V_2) \frac{1}{t_{\tilde{\beta}}} - \frac{\kappa_2}{2} v_u^2 - \frac{\nu u_1 v_u}{\sqrt{2} V_2},$$
(29b)

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial v_u} = 0 \Rightarrow -m^2 = \lambda v_u^2 + \frac{\kappa_1}{2} (V_1^2 + u_1^2) + \frac{\kappa_2}{2} (V_2^2 + u_2^2) + \frac{\nu}{\sqrt{2}v_u} (u_1 V_2 - u_2 V_1), \qquad (29c)$$

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial u_1} = 0 \Rightarrow m_{11}^2 = -\frac{m_{12}^2}{t_{\tilde{\beta}}} - \frac{\lambda_1}{2} (V_1^2 + u_1^2) - \frac{\lambda_3}{2} (V_2^2 + u_2^2) + \frac{\lambda_4 + \lambda_5}{2} (u_1 u_2 + V_1 V_2) \frac{1}{t_{\tilde{\beta}}} - \frac{\kappa_1}{2} v_u^2 - \frac{\nu V_2 v_u}{\sqrt{2} u_1},$$
(29d)

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial u_2} = 0 \Rightarrow m_{22}^2 = -m_{12}^2 t_{\tilde{\beta}} - \frac{\lambda_2}{2} (V_2^2 + u_2^2) - \frac{\lambda_3}{2} (V_1^2 + u_1^2) + \frac{\lambda_4 + \lambda_5}{2} (u_1 u_2 + V_1 V_2) t_{\tilde{\beta}} - \frac{\kappa_2}{2} v_u^2 + \frac{\nu V_1 v_u}{\sqrt{2} u_2}.$$
(29e)

By equating Eqs. (29a) with (29d), and Eqs. (29b) with (29e), we have a constraint of

$$t_{\theta}^{3} - \frac{\sqrt{2}\nu v_{u}}{(\lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})V_{331}^{2}}t_{\theta}^{2} + \left(\frac{2m_{12}^{2}}{s_{\tilde{\beta}}c_{\tilde{\beta}}(\lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})V_{331}^{2}} - 1\right)t_{\theta}$$

$$+\frac{\sqrt{2}\nu v_{u}}{(\lambda_{4}+\lambda_{5})V_{331}^{2}}=0,$$
(30)

with the relation in Eq. (27). Consider the scale hierarchy of  $m_{12}^2 \sim \mathcal{O}(V_{331}^2)$ ,  $v \sim v_u \sim \mathcal{O}(v_{EW})$ . It is straightforward to expect  $t_\theta \sim \mathcal{O}((v_{EW}/V_{331})^2)$  from Eq. (30). Thus, a natural scale of  $v_\phi$  can be further suppressed from the EW scale of  $v_{EW}$ , such as  $\sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  GeV. This was not noted in the previous Refs. [40–43] with the similar VEV assignment. Here and after, we will consider the following parameter inputs<sup>9</sup>

$$v \sim -\mathcal{O}(100) \text{ GeV}, v_u \approx 246 \text{ GeV}, v_\phi \sim \mathcal{O}(1) \text{ GeV},$$
  

$$V_{331} \sim \mathcal{O}(10) \text{ TeV}$$
  

$$t_{\tilde{\beta}} \sim \mathcal{O}(1), \quad m_{12}^2 \sim \mathcal{O}(100) \text{ TeV}^2, \quad (31)$$

instead of performing the detailed parameter scans. The choice of  $V_{331} \sim \mathcal{O}(10)$  TeV will become clear from the  $(b, \tau)$  Yukawa couplings with the 125 GeV SM-like Higgs boson. Notice that in the decoupling limit of  $m_{12} \sim V_{331} \rightarrow \infty$ , one naturally has  $t_{\theta} \rightarrow 0$  and  $v_{\phi} \rightarrow 0$  from Eq. (30).

## 3.2 The charged and CP-odd Higgs bosons

The charged Higgs bosons of  $\Phi_{\pm} = (\phi_1^{\pm}, \phi_2^{\pm}, \chi^{\pm}, \chi'^{\pm})$  form the mass squared matrix of

$$(\mathcal{M}_{\pm}^{2})_{4\times4} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{\phi_{1}^{+}\phi_{1}^{-}}^{2} & M_{\phi_{1}^{+}\phi_{2}^{-}}^{2} & M_{\phi_{1}^{+}\chi^{-}}^{2} & M_{\phi_{1}^{+}\chi^{-}}^{2} \\ M_{\phi_{1}^{-}\phi_{2}^{+}}^{2} & M_{\phi_{2}^{+}\phi_{2}^{-}}^{2} & M_{\phi_{2}^{+}\chi^{-}}^{2} & M_{\phi_{2}^{+}\chi^{-}}^{2} \\ M_{\phi_{1}^{-}\chi^{+}}^{2} & M_{\phi_{2}^{-}\chi^{+}}^{2} & M_{\chi^{+}\chi^{-}}^{2} & M_{\chi^{+}\chi^{-}}^{2} \\ M_{\phi_{1}^{-}\chi^{+}}^{2} & M_{\phi_{2}^{-}\chi^{+}}^{2} & M_{\chi^{-}\chi^{+}}^{2} & M_{\chi^{+}\chi^{-}}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \\ \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & \epsilon & \epsilon \\ 1 & 1 & \epsilon & \epsilon \\ \epsilon & \epsilon & \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon^{2} \\ \epsilon & \epsilon & \epsilon^{2} & 1 \end{pmatrix} V_{331}^{2}, \qquad (32)$$

with a small parameter given by  $\epsilon \equiv \frac{v_u}{V_{331}} \sim \frac{v_{\phi}}{v} \sim \mathcal{O}(0.01)$ . The orthogonal transformations to gauge eigenstates of  $\Phi_{\pm}$  are expressed as follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} G^{\pm} \\ G'^{\pm} \\ H_1^{\pm} \\ H_2^{\pm} \end{pmatrix} = \widetilde{V}_{\pm} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1^{\pm} \\ \phi_2^{\pm} \\ \chi^{\pm} \\ \chi'^{\pm} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\widetilde{V}_{\pm} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{\tau_1} & 0 & 0 & -s_{\tau_1} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ s_{\tau_1} & 0 & 0 & c_{\tau_1} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & c_{\tau_2} & -s_{\tau_2} & 0 \\ 0 & s_{\tau_2} & c_{\tau_2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} c_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\tilde{\beta}} & 0 & 0 \\ -s_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\tilde{\beta}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} .$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} c_{\tau_{1}}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\tau_{1}}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & 0 & -s_{\tau_{1}} \\ -c_{\tau_{2}}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\tau_{2}}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & -s_{\tau_{2}} & 0 \\ -s_{\tau_{2}}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\tau_{2}}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\tau_{2}} & 0 \\ s_{\tau_{1}}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\tau_{1}}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & 0 & c_{\tau_{1}} \end{pmatrix},$$
(33)

with  $t_{\tau_1} \equiv \frac{v_u}{V_{331}}$  and  $t_{\tau_2} \equiv \frac{v_{\phi}}{v_u}$ . Two corresponding non-zero eigenvalues for two charged Higgs bosons of  $H_{1,2}^{\pm}$  are given by

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{M}_{H_{1}^{\pm}}^{2} &= \frac{\mathcal{B}}{16V_{331}v_{u}v_{\phi}} \left( 1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{\mathcal{A}}{\mathcal{B}^{2}}} \right), \\ \mathcal{M}_{H_{2}^{\pm}}^{2} &= \frac{\mathcal{B}}{16V_{331}v_{u}v_{\phi}} \left( 1 + \sqrt{1 + \frac{\mathcal{A}}{\mathcal{B}^{2}}} \right), \\ \mathcal{A} &= 32\sqrt{2}vv_{u}v_{\phi}(v_{u}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2})(\kappa_{3} + \kappa_{4} + (\kappa_{3} - \kappa_{4})c_{2\tilde{\beta}})V_{331}^{5} \\ &\quad - 64v_{\phi}^{2}(v_{u}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2})(2v^{2} + \kappa_{3}\kappa_{4}v_{u}^{2})V_{331}^{4} \\ &\quad + 32\sqrt{2}vv_{u}v_{\phi}(v_{u}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2})((v_{u}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2})(\kappa_{3} + \kappa_{4}) \\ &\quad + (v_{u}^{2} - v_{\phi}^{2})(\kappa_{3} - \kappa_{4})c_{2\tilde{\beta}})V_{331}^{3} \\ &\quad - 64v_{u}^{2}v_{\phi}^{2}(v_{u}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2})(2v^{2} + \kappa_{3}\kappa_{4}v_{u}^{2})V_{331}^{2} \\ &\quad - 64v_{u}^{2}v_{\phi}^{2}(v_{u}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2})((\kappa_{3} - \kappa_{4})c_{2\tilde{\beta}} - \kappa_{3} - \kappa_{4}) \\ &\quad V_{331} \sim vv_{\phi}v_{u}^{3}V_{331}^{5}, \\ \mathcal{B} &= 2V_{331}v_{u}v_{\phi} \left[ c_{2\tilde{\beta}}(\kappa_{3} - \kappa_{4})(V_{331}^{2} - v_{\phi}^{2}) \\ &\quad + (\kappa_{3} + \kappa_{4})(V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2}) \right] \\ &\quad - 8\sqrt{2}vV_{331}^{2}v_{\phi}^{2} - 4\sqrt{2}vv_{u}^{2}(V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2}) \\ &\quad + 4V_{331}v_{u}^{3}v_{\phi}(\kappa_{3} + \kappa_{4}) \\ &\sim v_{u}v_{\phi}V_{331}^{3}. \end{split}$$

A simple expansion of Eq. (34) in terms of the mass hierarchy assumed in Eq. (31) leads to the approximated mass scales of

$$M_{H_1^{\pm}}^2 \sim \mathcal{O}(V_{331}^2), \quad M_{H_2^{\pm}}^2 \sim \mathcal{O}(V_{331}^2).$$
 (35)

The CP-odd Higgs bosons form the mass squared matrix of

$$(\mathcal{M}_{0^{-}}^{2})_{5\times5} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{\pi_{u}\pi_{u}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{u}\eta_{1}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{u}\eta_{2}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{u}\pi_{1}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{u}\pi_{2}}^{2} \\ M_{\pi_{u}\eta_{1}}^{2} & M_{\eta_{1}\eta_{1}}^{2} & M_{\eta_{2}\eta_{2}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{1}\eta_{1}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{2}\eta_{2}}^{2} \\ M_{\pi_{u}\pi_{1}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{1}\eta_{1}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{2}\eta_{2}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{1}\pi_{2}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{2}\pi_{2}}^{2} \\ M_{\pi_{u}\pi_{2}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{2}\eta_{1}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{2}\eta_{2}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{1}\pi_{2}}^{2} & M_{\pi_{2}\pi_{2}}^{2} \\ \end{pmatrix} \\ \sim \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon & \epsilon & \epsilon^{3} & \epsilon^{3} \\ \epsilon & 1 & 1 & \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon^{2} \\ \epsilon & 1 & 1 & \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon^{2} \\ \epsilon^{3} & \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon^{2} & 1 & 1 \\ \epsilon^{3} & \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon^{2} & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}} V_{331}^{2}, \qquad (36)$$

in the basis of  $\Phi_{0^-} = (\pi_u, \eta_{1,2}, \pi_{1,2})$ . We find three zero eigenvalues corresponding to three massless NGBs with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A negative  $\nu$  is chosen so that the physical Higgs boson mass squares are positive in the current context. This may not be necessary with additional terms included in the Higgs potential.

constraint in Eq. (30). The orthogonal transformations to  $\Phi_{0^-}$  are expressed as follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} G^{0} \\ G^{0}' \\ G^{0}'' \\ A^{0} \\ A^{0}' \end{pmatrix} = \widetilde{V}_{0^{-}} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \pi_{u} \\ \eta_{1} \\ \eta_{2} \\ \pi_{1} \\ \pi_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\widetilde{V}_{0^{-}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & -s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} \\ 0 & -s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} \\ c_{\tau} & s_{\tau}c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & -s_{\tau}c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\tau}s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\tau}s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} \\ -s_{\tau} & c_{\tau}c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & -c_{\tau}c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\tau}s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\tau}s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} \\ 0 & s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & -c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} \end{pmatrix},$$
(37)

with  $t_{\tau} \equiv \frac{v_{\phi} v_{331}}{\sqrt{v_{331}^2 + v_{\phi}^2 v_u}} \approx \frac{v_{\phi}}{v_u}$ . Two corresponding non-zero

eigenvalues for two CP-odd Higgs bosons are given by

$$M_{A^{0}}^{2} = \frac{-\sqrt{2}\nu(V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2})v_{u}^{2} + (\lambda_{4} - \lambda_{5})V_{331}v_{\phi}(V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2})v_{u}}{2V_{331}v_{\phi}v_{u}} \\ \sim \mathcal{O}(V_{331}^{2}), \\ M_{A^{0\prime}}^{2} = -\nu \frac{V_{331}^{2}(v_{u}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2}) + v_{\phi}^{2}v_{u}^{2}}{\sqrt{2}V_{331}v_{\phi}v_{u}} \sim \mathcal{O}(V_{331}^{2}).$$
(38)

Hence, we do not expect the discovery of these two CP-odd Higgs bosons at the current LHC direct searches.

#### 3.3 The CP-even Higgs bosons

There are five CP-even Higgs fields of  $(h_u, \phi_{1,2}, h_{1,2})$  in the gauge eigenbasis, and one of their linear combination will be identified as the NGB. Their masses and mixings play the key role in generating the bottom quark and tau lepton masses, as well as determining their Yukawa couplings with the SM-like Higgs boson. It takes two steps to obtain their mass eigenstates. To see that, we first perform the orthonormal transformations to  $(\phi_{1,2}, h_{1,2})$  as follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} \xi^{0} \\ \phi^{0} \\ h'_{1} \\ h'_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \widetilde{V}_{0^{+}} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{1} \\ \phi_{2} \\ h_{1} \\ h_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \widetilde{V}_{0^{+}} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & -s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} \\ -c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & -s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & -s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} \\ s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & -c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} \\ -s_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} & s_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}c_{\tilde{\beta}} & c_{\theta}s_{\tilde{\beta}} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(39)$$

with  $\xi^0$  being the massless NGB. Under the basis of  $(h_u, \phi^0, h'_{1,2})$ , the remaining four CP-even Higgs fields form the mass squared matrix and can be expanded as follows

$$(\mathcal{M}_{0^{+}}^{2})_{4\times4} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{h_{u}h_{u}}^{2} & M_{h_{u}\phi^{0}}^{2} & M_{h_{u}h_{1}}^{2} & M_{h_{u}h_{2}}^{2} \\ M_{h_{u}\phi^{0}}^{2} & M_{\phi^{0}\phi^{0}}^{2} & M_{\phi^{0}h_{1}}^{2} & M_{\phi^{0}h_{2}}^{2} \\ M_{h_{u}h_{1}}^{2} & M_{\phi^{0}h_{1}}^{2} & M_{h_{1}h_{1}}^{2} & M_{h_{1}h_{2}}^{2} \\ M_{h_{u}h_{2}}^{2} & M_{\phi^{0}h_{2}}^{2} & M_{h_{1}h_{2}}^{2} & M_{h_{2}h_{2}}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \\ \sim \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon & \epsilon & \epsilon \\ \epsilon & 1 & \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon^{2} \\ \epsilon & \epsilon^{2} & 1 & 1 \\ \epsilon & \epsilon^{2} & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} V_{331}^{2} \end{cases}$$

$$= (\mathcal{M}_{0^+}^2)^{(0)} + (\mathcal{M}_{0^+}^2)^{(1)} + (\mathcal{M}_{0^+}^2)^{(2)}, \qquad (40)$$

with a small parameter given by  $\epsilon \equiv \frac{v_u}{V_{331}} \sim \mathcal{O}(0.01)$ . The further diagonalization of Eq. (40) transforms into mass eigenstates of  $(H_u, H_{\phi}, H_1, H_2)$  such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} H_{u} \\ H_{\phi} \\ H_{1} \\ H_{2} \end{pmatrix} = V_{0^{+}} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} h_{u} \\ \phi^{0} \\ h'_{1} \\ h'_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$V_{0^{+}}(\mathcal{M}_{0^{+}}^{2})V_{0^{+}}^{T} = \operatorname{diag}(M_{H_{u}}^{2}, M_{H_{\phi}}^{2}, M_{H_{1}}^{2}, M_{H_{2}}^{2}).$$
(41)

Among them,  $H_u$  is the lightest CP-even Higgs boson with mass of 125 GeV, while others have masses of  $\sim O(V_{331})$ .

To have positive definite eigenvalues for CP-even Higgs boson mass squares in Eq. (40), one cannot have the  $\nu$  parameter as large as  $V_{331}$ . That is why we chose  $\nu \sim \mathcal{O}(100)$  GeV in Eq. (31). However, a  $\nu$ -problem emerges, namely, why is a mass parameter from a 331-invariant Higgs potential takes a value comparable to the EW scale. This problem is analogous to the well-known  $\mu$ -problem in the minimal supersymmetric Standard Model (MSSM) [68]. One can thus expect this  $\nu$ -term to originate from some non-renormalizable terms in the realistic non-minimal GUTs with  $n_g = 3.^{10}$  This type of terms are inevitable due to the gravitational effects that break the global U(1) symmetry explicitly.<sup>11</sup> Taking the SU(8) GUT as an example again, one such possible d = 5 nonrenormalizable term is expected to be

$$SU(8) : \frac{1}{M_{pl}} \epsilon_{\rho_1 \dots \rho_4} \overline{\mathbf{8}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho_1} \dots \overline{\mathbf{8}_{\mathbf{H}}}^{\rho_4} \cdot \mathbf{70}_{\mathbf{H}}$$

$$\supset \frac{1}{M_{pl}} \epsilon_{\rho_1 \dots \rho_4} \left( \overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{1}, +\frac{1}{4} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_1} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, -\frac{1}{4} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_2}$$

$$\otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, -\frac{1}{4} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_3} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, -\frac{1}{4} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_4} \otimes \left( \mathbf{4}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, +\frac{1}{2} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}$$

$$\supset \frac{V_{441}}{M_{pl}} \epsilon_{\rho_2 \dots \rho_4} \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, -\frac{1}{4} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_2} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, -\frac{1}{4} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_3}$$

$$\otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, -\frac{1}{4} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_4} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, +\frac{3}{4} \right)_{\mathbf{H}} \sim \frac{V_{441} V_{341}}{M_{pl}} \epsilon_{\rho_3 \rho_4}$$

$$\left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_3} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho_4} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, +\frac{2}{3} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\prime\prime\prime}. \quad (42)$$

Here, the decompositions are achieved according to Eqs. (17). Obviously, this non-renormalizable term induced by the gravitational effect reproduces what we considered as the  $\nu$ -term in Eq. (19d). Thus, the value of  $\nu \sim \mathcal{O}(100)$  GeV in Eq. (31) can be naturally realized with  $V_{441} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{12})$  GeV and  $V_{341} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^9)$  GeV.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  In the MSSM case, this was known as the Kim–Nilles mechanism for the  $\mu$ -problem [69,70].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In the axion models, this effect leads to what is known as the PQ quality problem [18-20].

With the hierarchies of mass parameter in Eq. (31), the diagonalization of mass matrix in Eq. (40) can be achieved in terms of perturbation. Hence, we express the mixing matrix in Eq. (41) as

$$V_{0^+} = \widetilde{U}\widetilde{U}^{(0)}.\tag{43}$$

At the leading order, it is straightforward to diagonalize the  $(\mathcal{M}^2_{0^+})^{(0)}$  by an orthogonal matrix of

$$\widetilde{U}^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I}_{2 \times 2} & & \\ & c_{\alpha} & -s_{\alpha} \\ & s_{\alpha} & c_{\alpha} \end{pmatrix},$$
(44)

into

$$\widetilde{U}^{(0)} \cdot (\mathcal{M}^2_{0^+})^{(0)} \cdot \widetilde{U}^{(0)T} = \text{diag}(0, M^2_{\phi^0 \phi^0}, \widetilde{M}^2_{h'_1 h'_1}, \widetilde{M}^2_{h'_2 h'_2}),$$
(45)

where  $t_{\alpha} = [M_{h'_1h'_1}^2 - M_{h'_2h'_2}^2 - \sqrt{(M_{h'_1h'_1}^2 - M_{h'_2h'_2}^2)^2 + 4M_{h'_1h'_2}^4}]/(2M_{h'_1h'_2}^2)$ . The mixing matrix of  $\widetilde{U}$  for the higher-order terms can be expanded up to  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$  as

$$\widetilde{U} = \mathbb{I}_{4\times4} + \widetilde{U}^{(1)} + \widetilde{U}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3),$$
(46)

with  $\widetilde{U}^{(1)} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$  and  $\widetilde{U}^{(2)} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ . Similarly,  $V_{0^+}$  can also be expanded as:

$$V_{0^+} = \widetilde{U}^{(0)} + V_{0^+}^{(1)} + V_{0^+}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3).$$
(47)

For our later usage, we find that the  $V_{0^+}^{(1)}$  is expressed as follows

$$V_{0^{+}}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{M_{h_{u}\phi^{0}}^{2}}{M_{\phi^{0}\phi^{0}}^{2}} & -\frac{M_{h_{u}h_{1}}^{2}}{M_{h_{1}h_{1}}^{2}} & -\frac{M_{h_{u}h_{2}}^{2}}{M_{h_{2}h_{2}}^{2}} \\ \frac{M_{h_{u}\phi^{0}}^{2}}{M_{\phi^{0}\phi^{0}}^{2}} & & & \\ \frac{M_{h_{u}h_{1}}^{2}}{M_{\mu_{1}h_{1}}^{2}} & & & \\ \frac{M_{h_{u}h_{1}}^{2}}{M_{h_{2}h_{2}}^{2}} & & & \\ \frac{M_{h_{u}h_{1}}^{2}}{M_{h_{2}h_{2}}^{2}} & & & \\ \frac{M_{h_{u}h_{1}}^{2}}{M_{h_{1}h_{2}}^{2}} & & & \\ \frac{M_{h_{u}h_{1}}^{2}}{M_{h_{1}h_{2}$$

with  $(0, 0, \tilde{M}_{h_u h'_1}^2, \tilde{M}_{h_u h'_2}^2) = \tilde{U}^{(0)} \cdot (0, 0, M_{h_u h'_1}^2, M_{h_u h'_2}^2)$ . By using the perturbation expansion in Eq. (47), we find the SM-like CP-even Higgs boson mass of

$$M_{H_{u}}^{2} = \left(2\lambda - \frac{\nu v_{\phi} V_{331}}{\sqrt{2} v_{u}^{3}}\right) v_{u}^{2} - \left[(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{12}^{2} M_{\phi^{0} \phi^{0}}^{2}\right] - \left[(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{13}^{2} M_{h_{1}' h_{1}'}^{2}\right] - \left[(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{14}^{2} M_{h_{2}' h_{2}'}^{2}\right].$$
(49)

Since the mixing elements are  $(V_{0^+}^{(1)})_{ij} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ , all terms here are of the EW scales.

#### 3.4 Summary of the Higgs spectrum

In the end of this section, we briefly summarize the Higgs spectrum in the current context. The symmetry breaking of  $\mathcal{G}_{331} \rightarrow \mathcal{G}_{SM}$  and the sequential EWSB require eight NGBs, while the Higgs sector contains three  $SU(3)_W$  antifundamentals of  $\Phi_{\overline{3},\rho}$  and  $\Phi'_{\overline{3}}$ . Therefore, we have ten real scalars in all. Through the above analysis, we find the 331 Higgs spectrum is consist of: two charged Higgs bosons of  $H_{1,2}^{\pm}$  from Eq. (35), two CP-odd Higgs bosons of  $(A^0, A^{0'})$  from Eq. (38), and four CP-even Higgs bosons of  $(H_u, H_{\phi}, H_1, H_2)$  from Eqs. (40) and (41). The explicit expressions for Higgs mass matrix in Eqs. (32), (36), and (40) will be given in Appendix A.3. At the EW scale, our Higgs spectrum only contains one CP-even Higgs boson of  $H_{\mu}$ , while all other Higgs boson masses are decoupled. Therefore, our effective theory at the EW scale is distinct from the 2HDM, where a total of four Higgs bosons with masses of the EW scale are generally expected. Here, we list two benchmark models for the Higgs spectrum in Table 1 to demonstrate our results explicitly.

#### 4 Bottom quark and tau lepton masses in the SU(6)

#### 4.1 The Yukawa couplings

By taking the Higgs VEVs in Eqs. (21) and (24), we have the following mass matrices for the down-type (b, B) quarks and charged  $(\tau, E)$  leptons

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{\rho\sigma} \left[ (\mathbf{3}, \mathbf{3}, 0)_{\mathbf{F}} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \bar{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho} \otimes \left( \bar{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{1}, +\frac{1}{3} \right)_{\mathbf{F}}^{\sigma} \right] \\ \oplus \left( \mathbf{1}, \bar{\mathbf{3}}, +\frac{2}{3} \right)_{\mathbf{F}} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \bar{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3} \right)_{\mathbf{H}}^{\rho} \otimes \left( \mathbf{1}, \bar{\mathbf{3}}, -\frac{1}{3} \right)_{\mathbf{F}}^{\sigma} \right] \\ + H.c. \Rightarrow (\bar{b}_{L}, \bar{B}_{L}) \cdot \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{B}} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} b_{R} \\ B_{R} \end{pmatrix} + (\bar{\tau}_{L}, \bar{E}_{L}) \\ \cdot \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{R} \\ E_{R} \end{pmatrix} + H.c.,$$
(50a)  
$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{B}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11}u_{1} + (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{12}u_{2} & (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{21}u_{1} + (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22}u_{2} \\ (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11}V_{1} + (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{12}V_{2} & (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{21}V_{1} + (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22}V_{2} \end{pmatrix} \\ \sim \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon^{2} & \epsilon^{2} \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} V_{331},$$
(50b)

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{E}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11}u_1 + (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{12}u_2 & -(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11}V_1 - (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{12}V_2 \\ (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{21}u_1 + (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22}u_2 & -(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{21}V_1 - (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22}V_2 \end{pmatrix} \\ \sim \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon^2 & -1 \\ \epsilon^2 & -1 \end{pmatrix} V_{331}.$$
(50c)

Given the seesaw-like mass matrices according to the mass hierarchy given in Eq. (31), a suppressed bottom quark and tau lepton masses of  $\sim O(1)$  GeV can be realized with the natural Yukawa couplings of  $(Y_D)_{ij} \sim O(1)$ . 
 Table 1
 The Higgs spectrum

 and the parameters in the Higgs
 potential

	$M_{H_u}$	$M_{H_{\phi}}$		$M_{H_1}$	$M_{H_2}$	$M_{A^0}$	$M_{A^{0}}$	$M_{H_1^\pm}$	$M_{H_2^\pm}$
A	A 125 GeV 13		eV	14.1 TeV	10.7 TeV	13.4 TeV	13.2 TeV	13.2 TeV	7.1 TeV
В	125 GeV	29.5 T	eV	50.1 TeV	33.3 TeV	2.9 TeV	2.9 TeV	2.9 TeV	15.8 TeV
	λ		$\lambda_1$	$\lambda_2$	$\lambda_3$	$\lambda_4$	$\lambda_5$	$\tan \tilde{\beta}$	
A	0.51		2.0	1.0	1.0	0.2	0.1	1.7	
В	0.13		1.0	1.0	1.0	0.1	0.1	10.0	
	κ <sub>1</sub>	к2	Кз	К4	$v_u$	$v_{\phi}$	l	,	V <sub>331</sub>
A	0.8	1.0	1.	0 1.0	246 Ge	eV 1.0	GeV -	-100 GeV	10 TeV
В	0.2 0.2 0		0.	2 0.2	246 Ge	eV 2.0	GeV -	-200 GeV	50 TeV

# 4.2 The bottom quark mass

Specifically, we first illustrate the bottom quark mass, and the tau lepton mass can be obtained straightforwardly. In general, the mass matrix in Eq. (50b) can be diagonalized through the bi-unitary transformation as

$$U_{L}^{\mathcal{B}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{B}}(U_{R}^{\mathcal{B}})^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} m_{b} & 0\\ 0 & m_{B} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$U_{L/R}^{\mathcal{B}} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{L/R} & -s_{L/R}\\ s_{L/R} & c_{L/R} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} b'_{L/R}\\ B'_{L/R} \end{pmatrix} = U_{L/R}^{\mathcal{B}} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} b_{L/R}\\ B_{L/R} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (51)$$

with (b', B') being the mass eigenstates. We find that the corresponding Yukawa couplings are expressed in terms of masses and mixing angles as follows

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11} = \sqrt{2} \left[ (c_L c_R m_b + s_L s_R m_B) \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + (-s_L c_R m_b + c_L s_R m_B) \frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}} \right],$$
(52a)

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{12} = \sqrt{2} \left[ (c_L c_R m_b + s_L s_R m_B) \frac{-c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + (-s_L c_R m_b + c_L s_R m_B) \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}} \right],$$
(52b)

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{21} = \sqrt{2} \left[ (-c_L s_R m_b + s_L c_R m_B) \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + (s_L s_R m_b + c_L c_R m_B) \frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}} \right],$$
(52c)

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22} = \sqrt{2} \left[ \left( -c_L s_R m_b + s_L c_R m_B \right) \frac{-c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + \left( s_L s_R m_b + c_L c_R m_B \right) \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}} \right].$$
(52d)

Under the reasonable limit of  $\varphi_{L/R} \to 0$  and  $t_{\tilde{\beta}} \sim 1$ , we find the natural Yukawa couplings of  $(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11} \sim (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{12} \sim m_b/v_\phi \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  and  $(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{21} \sim (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22} \sim m_B/V_{331} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ .

By performing the orthogonal transformation in Eq. (39), we find the following bottom quark Yukawa couplings with

the CP-even Higgs bosons

$$\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathcal{Q},0^{+}} \supset -m_{b}\overline{b'_{L}}b'_{R}\left[(c_{L}^{2}\frac{c_{\theta}}{v_{\phi}} + s_{L}^{2}\frac{s_{\theta}}{V_{331}})\phi^{0} + s_{L}c_{L}\left(\frac{c_{\theta}}{v_{\phi}} + \frac{s_{\theta}}{V_{331}}\right)h'_{1} + \left(c_{L}^{2}\frac{s_{\theta}}{v_{\phi}} - s_{L}^{2}\frac{c_{\theta}}{V_{331}}\right)h'_{2}\right] + H.c.$$

$$\approx -m_{b}\overline{b'_{L}}b'_{R}\left(\frac{c_{L}^{2}}{v_{\phi}}\phi^{0} + \frac{s_{L}c_{L}}{v_{\phi}}h'_{1} + \frac{c_{L}^{2} - s_{L}^{2}}{V_{331}}h'_{2}\right) + H.c., \qquad (53)$$

from Eq. (83b), and with the approximation given under the decoupling limit of  $v_{\phi}/V_{331} \rightarrow 0$ . By using the orthogonal transformation to CP-even Higgs fields in Eq. (41), the bottom quark Yukawa coupling with the SM-like Higgs boson of  $H_u$  reads

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}[H_{u}] \supset -m_{b}\overline{b'_{L}}b'_{R}\left[\left(c_{L}^{2}\frac{c_{\theta}}{v_{\phi}}+s_{L}^{2}\frac{s_{\theta}}{V_{331}}\right)(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{12} + s_{L}c_{L}\left(\frac{c_{\theta}}{v_{\phi}}+\frac{s_{\theta}}{V_{331}}\right)(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{13} + \left(c_{L}^{2}\frac{s_{\theta}}{v_{\phi}}-s_{L}^{2}\frac{c_{\theta}}{V_{331}}\right)(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{14}\right]H_{u}+H.c.$$

$$\approx -m_{b}\overline{b'_{L}}b'_{R}\left[\frac{c_{L}^{2}}{v_{\phi}}(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{12}+\frac{s_{L}c_{L}}{v_{\phi}}(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{13} + \frac{c_{L}^{2}-s_{L}^{2}}{V_{331}}(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{14}\right]H_{u}+H.c.$$

$$\approx -m_{b}\overline{b'_{L}}b'_{R}\left[\frac{c_{L}^{2}}{v_{\phi}}(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{12}+\frac{s_{L}c_{L}}{v_{\phi}}(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{13}\right]H_{u}+H.c.,$$
(54)

with the mixing matrices in Eqs. (41), (43), (48) for the CPeven Higgs bosons. Likewise, we find the Yukawa couplings of the SM-like Higgs boson of  $H_u$  with the heavy B' quark as

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}[H_{u}] \approx -m_{B}\overline{B'_{L}}B'_{R}\left[s_{L}^{2}c_{\theta}\frac{s_{\beta}^{2}+s_{\beta}c_{\beta}}{v_{\phi}}(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{12} -s_{L}c_{L}\frac{c_{\theta}}{v_{\phi}}(V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{13}\right]H_{u} + H.c..$$
(55)

One can expect two constraints from the SM sector, namely,

- $\mathfrak{X}$  the EW charged currents mediated by  $W^{\pm}$ ,
- $\mathfrak{Y}$  all SM-like Higgs boson couplings, including  $H_u \bar{f} f$ ,  $H_u VV (V = W^{\pm}, Z), H_u gg$ , and  $H_u \gamma \gamma$ .

From the EW charged currents given in terms of the gauge eigenstates in Eq. (79), it is straightforward to find that  $V_{tb} = c_L$ . It is thus natural to take the limit of  $c_L \rightarrow 1$ , according to the measurement of the CKM mixing angle of  $|V_{tb}| = 1.013\pm0.030$  [71]. Under this limit, the SM-like Higgs boson couplings to the heavy B' quark vanishes in Eq. (55) as  $\varphi_L \rightarrow$ 0. Thus, the potential heavy B' quark contributions to the effective  $H_ugg$  and  $H_u\gamma\gamma$  couplings are vanishing in this limit. Let us return to the bottom quark Yukawa coupling in Eq. (54) when  $\varphi_L \rightarrow 0$ , it is further simplified to

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}[H_{u}] \approx -\frac{m_{b}}{v_{\phi}} (V_{0^{+}}^{(1)})_{12} \overline{b'_{L}} b'_{R} H_{u} + H.c..$$
(56)

By requiring that the tree-level  $H_u \bar{b}' b'$  Yukawa coupling in Eq. (54) is the same as the SM prediction [72,73], we find the relation of

$$\frac{v_{\rm EW}}{v_{\phi}} (V_{0^+}^{(1)})_{12} \approx 1 \Rightarrow \frac{v_{\rm EW}^2}{v_{\phi} V_{331}} \approx 1,$$
(57)

with the mixing angle of  $(V_{0^+}^{(1)})_{12} \sim \epsilon = \frac{v_{\rm EW}}{V_{331}}$  in Eq. (48). For simplicity, the sub-leading correction term suppressed by  $1/V_{331}$  in Eq. (54) is neglected. Apparently, this relation leads to the natural new physics scale for the 331 symmetry of

$$V_{331} \sim \mathcal{O}(10) \,\mathrm{TeV} \,, \tag{58}$$

with the reasonable choice of  $v_{\phi} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  GeV for the bottom quark Yukawa coupling. This confirms our previous assumption of the benchmark parameter input in Eq. (31). We have also checked that a new physics scale of  $V_{331}$  in Eq. (58) is even consistent with the most stringent limit to the rare flavor-changing lepton decay process of Br( $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$ ) [74] when generalizing to the three-generational case [45].

#### 4.3 The tau lepton mass

The tau lepton mass and Yukawa couplings follow closely from the bottom quark case, and we present the discussion here for completeness. The general  $\mathcal{E} = (\tau, E)$  mass matrix in Eq. (50c) is related to the  $\mathcal{B} = (b, B)$  mass matrix in Eq. (50b) by

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{E}} = \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{B}}^T \cdot \sigma_3. \tag{59}$$

It is straightforward to find that the bi-unitary transformation for the  $\mathcal{E} = (\tau, E)$  is simply related to those for the  $\mathcal{B} = (b, B)$  as below

$$U_{L}^{\mathcal{E}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{E}}(U_{R}^{\mathcal{E}})^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} m_{\tau} & 0\\ 0 & m_{E} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{L/R}'\\ E_{L/R}' \end{pmatrix} = U_{L/R}^{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{L/R}\\ E_{L/R} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$U_{L}^{\mathcal{E}} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{R} & -s_{R}\\ s_{R} & c_{R} \end{pmatrix}, \quad U_{R}^{\mathcal{E}} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{L} & s_{L}\\ -s_{L} & c_{L} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{60}$$

Immediately, this leads a result of  $s_R = 0$  from leptonic sector of the EW charged currents in Eq. (79). Analogous to Eqs. (52), the Yukawa couplings can also be expressed as

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11} = \sqrt{2} \left[ (c_L c_R m_\tau - s_L s_R m_E) \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + (s_L c_R m_\tau + c_L s_R m_E) \frac{-c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}} \right],$$
(61a)

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{12} = \sqrt{2} \left[ (c_L c_R m_\tau - s_L s_R m_E) \frac{-c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + (s_L c_R m_\tau + c_L s_R m_E) \frac{-s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}} \right],$$
(61b)

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{21} = \sqrt{2} \left[ (-c_L s_R m_\tau - s_L c_R m_E) \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + (s_L s_R m_\tau - c_L c_R m_E) \frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}} \right], \tag{61c}$$

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22} = \sqrt{2} \left[ (c_L s_R m_\tau + s_L c_R m_E) \frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + (s_L s_R m_\tau) - c_L c_R m_E \right] \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}} \right].$$
(61d)

Obviously, Eqs. (52) and (61) lead to the degenerate fermion mass predictions of  $m_b = m_{\tau}$  and  $m_B = -m_E$ .<sup>12</sup> Thus, the b- $\tau$  mass unification issue cannot be addressed at the tree level. Their mass splitting can be attributed to the renormalization group running. This was first discussed in the context of the Georgi–Glashow SU(5) model [75]. However, results therein cannot be naively applied to the  $(b, \tau)$  mass ratio in the non-minimal GUTs. To fully evaluate their mass splitting, we expect two prerequisites of: (i) evaluation of the intermediate symmetry breaking scales from an appropriate GUT group, and (ii) the identification of the SM fermion representations with the extended color and weak symmetries. Both are distinctive features of the non-minimal GUTs, and we defer to analyze the details in the future work. By performing the orthogonal transformation in Eq. (39), we find the tau lepton Yukawa coupling with the SM-like Higgs boson

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The relative negative sign in  $m_B = -m_E$  can always be rotated away by redefining the right-handed component of *E*.

the same as that for the bottom quark case in Eq. (54), with  $m_b \rightarrow m_{\tau}$ . Therefore, the scale of  $V_{331}$  in Eq. (58) can be similarly determined from the tau lepton, given the current LHC measurements of the  $H_u \tau \tau$  coupling [76,77].

#### 4.4 The possible radiative mechanism

We comment on the possible radiative fermion mass generation in the current scenario, which was proposed and considered to produce fermion mass hierarchies in various context [78–86]. In such a paradigm, the general assumption is that some light fermion masses can be radiatively generated with vanishing tree-level masses. Specifically, we should check that whether the bottom quark and tau lepton masses can be generated with  $m_b = 0$  in Eq. (51) and  $m_\tau = 0$  in Eq. (60). Let us consider the  $\mathcal{B} = (b, B)$  case without loss of generality, the Yukawa couplings are reduced to the following expressions

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11} = \frac{m_B}{v_\phi} s_R (s_L s_{\tilde{\beta}} + t_\theta c_L c_{\tilde{\beta}}), \qquad (62a)$$

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{12} = \frac{m_B}{v_\phi} s_R (t_\theta c_L s_{\tilde{\beta}} - s_L c_{\tilde{\beta}}) = (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22} t_R, \qquad (62b)$$

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{21} = \frac{m_B}{v_\phi} c_R (s_L s_{\tilde{\beta}} + t_\theta c_L c_{\tilde{\beta}}) = (Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{11} / t_R, \qquad (62c)$$

$$(Y_{\mathcal{D}})_{22} = \frac{m_B}{v_\phi} c_R (t_\theta c_L s_{\tilde{\beta}} - s_L c_{\tilde{\beta}}), \tag{62d}$$

under the vanishing tree-level mass of  $m_b = 0$ . The bottom quark and its heavy partner *B* can be mediated through the flavor-changing neutral vector bosons of  $(N_{\mu}, \bar{N}_{\mu})$  as in Eq. (78a), while this only happens for the left-handed components. Thus, the neutral vector bosons of  $(N_{\mu}, \bar{N}_{\mu})$  cannot lead to a radiative mass terms as was suggested in Refs. [80,81]. The remaining possibility may be due to the mediation from the Higgs sector, as in Ref. [84]. By taking the  $m_b = 0$  in Eqs. (83a) and (83b), the neutral Higgs bosons can only mediate the left-handed b' and right-handed B'. Thus, it is impossible to generate a radiative mass term of  $m_b^{\text{rad}} \overline{b'_L} b'_R + H.c.$  with a vanishing tree-level  $m_b = 0$ . The same argument also applies to the  $\mathcal{E} = (\tau, E)$  case with the  $m_{\tau} = 0$  limit.

#### **5** Conclusions

In this work, we study the bottom quark and tau lepton mass generations in the framework of one-generational SU(6) GUT. The symmetry breaking stage of  $\mathcal{G}_{331} \rightarrow \mathcal{G}_{SM}$  is found to be general for more realistic non-minimal GUTs with  $n_g = 3$ . A different assignment to the Higgs VEVs from the previous studies is considered so that the bottom quark and tau lepton can obtain tree-level masses with  $\sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  Yukawa couplings. We consider this fermion-Higgs mismatching pattern to be general, such as in more realistic unified model with

the SU(8) symmetry. Thus, we prevent the pattern leading to multiple EW Higgs doublets, which is very problematic with the ongoing LHC searches. An automatically generated small Higgs VEVs of  $\sim O(1)$  GeV is found to be possible as long as a gauge-invariant  $\nu$ -term in the Higgs potential can be of  $\sim O(100)$  GeV. Notice that this v-term is also invariant under the emergent global symmetry of Eq. (2), which emerges automatically from the anomaly-free condition. By requiring the Yukawa coupling of the SM-like Higgs boson to SM fermions of  $y_f^{\text{SM}} = \frac{\sqrt{2m_f}}{v_{\text{EW}}}$ , we find the 331 symmetry-breaking scale of  $V_{331} \sim 10$  TeV in the current context. This was not mentioned in the previous context. With the distinct VEV assignments in Eqs. (21) and (24), we find a Higgs sector consisting of one single CP-even Higgs boson at the EW scale. All other Higgs bosons have masses of  $\sim O(V_{331})$ , as we have described in Sect. 3. Therefore, the effective theory at the EW scale contains only one SM-like CP-even Higgs boson, and is not described by a 2HDM.

Historically, it was proposed that three-generational SM fermions may be embedded non-trivially in a non-minimal GUT [3]. Through our recent analysis [21,87], we find that the SU(8) GUT can be the minimal model that have threegenerational SM fermions transform differently under the extended gauge symmetries beyond the EW scale. Through the current discussion, we wish to mention the relations between the SU(6) toy model and the realistic SU(8) model. First, the SU(6) subgroup of the  $\mathcal{G}_{331}$  can be generic in the context of the SU(8) GUT, as was shown in Eq. (15). Therefore, the results such as the  $\mathcal{G}_{331}$  gauge sector and part of the Higgs sector in the current discussion can become useful in the context of the SU(8) model. Second, the symmetry breaking pattern can be generalized, where the seemingly unnatural  $\nu$ -term in Eq. (19d) that generates the EWSB VEVs for the  $(b, \tau)$  masses are natural due to the gravitational effect in the SU(8) model. This means a potential relation between the gravitational effect and the flavor sector, which was never mentioned in any previous GUT literature according to our knowledge. Since the one-generational SU(6) GUT is a toy model, there are several issues beyond the scope of the current discussions. They include: (i) the b- $\tau$  mass unification, (ii) the three-generational SM fermion mixings. Furthermore, the SM fermions in the non-minimal GUTs are usually accompanied with heavy partners from the SU(N)anti-fundamentals. They can be mediated through the heavy charged and/or neutral vector bosons as well as heavy Higgs bosons during the intermediate symmetry breaking stages of the non-minimal GUT symmetry. It is therefore necessary to carry out detailed analysis of their experimental implications in some rare flavor-changing processes. All these issues will be studied elsewhere when extending to more realistic nonminimal GUTs such as the SU(8), where three-generational SM fermions are embedded non-trivially.

Acknowledgements We would like to thank Wenbin Yan, Chang-Yuan Yao, and Ye-Ling Zhou for enlightening discussions. N.C. would like to thank Tibet University, Shanghai Institute of Optics and Fine Mechanics (CAS), and Peking University for hospitality when preparing this work. N.C. is partially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (under Grants No. 12035008 and No. 12275140), and Nankai University. Y.N.M. is partially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (under Grant No. 12205227), the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (WUT: 2022IVA052), and Wuhan University of Technology.

**Data Availability Statement** This manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited. [Authors' comment: This article is a theoretical study and has no associated experimental data.]

Generically, the covariant derivative for the  $SU(3)_W$  fundamental representation is defined according to the convention in Refs. [35,44]<sup>13</sup>

$$D_{\mu}\Phi_{\mathbf{3}} \equiv (\partial_{\mu} - ig_{3L}A^{a}_{\mu}\frac{\lambda^{a}}{2} - ig_{X}X\mathbb{I}_{3}X_{\mu})\Phi_{\mathbf{3}}, \tag{64}$$

with  $\lambda^a$  (a = 1, ..., 8) being the SU(3) Gell–Mann matrices. For the SU(3)<sub>W</sub> anti-fundamental representation, the covariant is defined as

$$D_{\mu}\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}} \equiv \left(\partial_{\mu} + ig_{3L}A^{a}_{\mu}\frac{(\lambda^{a})^{*}}{2} - ig_{X}X\mathbb{I}_{3}X_{\mu}\right)\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}}$$
$$= \left(\partial_{\mu} + ig_{3L}A^{a}_{\mu}\frac{(\lambda^{a})^{T}}{2} - ig_{X}X\mathbb{I}_{3}X_{\mu}\right)\Phi_{\overline{\mathbf{3}}},\tag{65}$$

with the hermiticity of  $(\lambda^a)^{\dagger} = \lambda^a$ . Note that the definitions in Eqs. (64) and (65) are applicable to the SU(3)<sub>W</sub> fermions.

Explicitly, we express the gauge fields in terms of a  $3 \times 3$  matrix as follows

$$g_{3L}A^{a}_{\mu}\frac{\lambda^{a}}{2} + g_{X}X\mathbb{I}_{3}X_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} g_{3L}(A^{3}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}A^{8}_{\mu}) + 2g_{X}XX_{\mu} & g_{3L}(A^{1}_{\mu} - iA^{2}_{\mu}) & g_{3L}(A^{4}_{\mu} - iA^{5}_{\mu}) \\ g_{3L}(A^{1}_{\mu} + iA^{2}_{\mu}) & g_{3L}(-A^{3}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}A^{8}_{\mu}) + 2g_{X}XX_{\mu} & g_{3L}(A^{4}_{\mu} - iA^{5}_{\mu}) \\ g_{3L}(A^{4}_{\mu} + iA^{5}_{\mu}) & g_{3L}(A^{4}_{\mu} + iA^{7}_{\mu}) & -\frac{2g_{3L}}{\sqrt{3}}A^{8}_{\mu} + 2g_{X}XX_{\mu} \end{pmatrix}$$
(66)

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Funded by SCOAP<sup>3</sup>. SCOAP<sup>3</sup> supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

#### A The gauge symmetry breaking in the 331 model

In this section, we summarize the necessary results of the gauge symmetry breaking of  $\mathcal{G}_{331} \rightarrow \mathcal{G}_{SM}$  for the current discussions as well as for the future studies.

#### A.1 The 331 gauge bosons

The kinematic terms for the  $SU(3)_W$  Higgs fields are

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{\rho} |D_{\mu} \Phi_{\bar{\mathbf{3}},\rho}|^2 + |D_{\mu} \Phi_{\bar{\mathbf{3}}}'|^2.$$
(63)

One can identify the charged gauge bosons of  $W_{\mu}^{\pm} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(A_{\mu}^{1} \mp i A_{\mu}^{2}), C_{\mu}^{\pm} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(A_{\mu}^{4} \mp i A_{\mu}^{5})$ , and the neutral gauge bosons of  $N_{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(A_{\mu}^{6} - i A_{\mu}^{7})$ , and  $\bar{N}_{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(A_{\mu}^{6} + i A_{\mu}^{7})$ . The electric charges of gauge bosons can be obtained by the relation of  $[\hat{Q}, A_{\mu}^{a}\lambda^{a}] = Q_{A}^{IJ}(A_{\mu}^{a}\lambda^{a})_{IJ}$ , with X = 0 (since the SU(3)<sub>W</sub> gauge bosons do not take the U(1)<sub>X</sub> charges) in the electric charge operator given in Eq. (6).

The charged and neutral 331-gauge boson mass squares at the tree level read

$$m_{C_{\mu}}^{2} = m_{N_{\mu},\bar{N}_{\mu}}^{2} = \frac{1}{4}g_{3L}^{2}V_{331}^{2}, \tag{67}$$

with the VEV assignment in Eq. (21) for simplicity. The other neutral gauge boson is due to the linear combination of  $(A_{\mu}^{8}, X_{\mu})$ , whose mass matrix is

$$\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{(V_{331})^2}{9} (A^{8\,\mu}, X^{\mu}) \begin{pmatrix} 3g_{3L}^2 & -\sqrt{3}g_{3L}g_X \\ -\sqrt{3}g_{3L}g_X & g_X^2 \end{pmatrix} \\
\cdot \begin{pmatrix} A^8_{\mu} \\ X_{\mu} \end{pmatrix}, \\
\Rightarrow m_{Z'_{\mu}}^2 = \frac{1}{9} (g_X^2 + 3g_{3L}^2) (V_{331})^2.$$
(68)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In some 331 literatures, e.g. Ref. [37], the U(1) charge is defined with a 3 × 3 unity matrix of  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}\mathbb{I}_3$ .

It is straightforward to define a mixing angle  $\theta_X$  for the 331 symmetry breaking as

$$\begin{pmatrix} Z'_{\mu} \\ B_{\mu} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} c_X & -s_X \\ s_X & c_X \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} A^8_{\mu} \\ X_{\mu} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (69)

with

$$t_X \equiv \tan \theta_X = \frac{g_X}{\sqrt{3}g_{3L}}.$$
(70)

Thus,  $Z'_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$  can be expressed in terms of  $A^8_{\mu}$  and  $X_{\mu}$  as

$$Z'_{\mu} = \frac{\sqrt{3}g_{3L}A^8_{\mu} - g_X X_{\mu}}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + 3g_{3L}^2}}, \quad B_{\mu} = \frac{g_X A^8_{\mu} + \sqrt{3}g_{3L} X_{\mu}}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + 3g_{3L}^2}}.$$
 (71)

The U(1)<sub>Y</sub> coupling of  $\alpha_Y$  is related to the SU(3)<sub>W</sub>  $\otimes$  U(1)<sub>X</sub> couplings of ( $\alpha_{3L}, \alpha_X$ ) as

$$\alpha_{Y}^{-1} = \frac{1}{3}\alpha_{3L}^{-1} + \alpha_{X}^{-1}, \quad \frac{1}{3}\alpha_{3L}^{-1} = \alpha_{Y}^{-1}s_{X}^{2}, \quad \alpha_{X}^{-1} = \alpha_{Y}^{-1}c_{X}^{2}.$$
(72)

Correspondingly, the diagonal components of the  $SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X$  covariant derivative in Eq. (66) become

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{diag} \left( g_{3L} A_{\mu}^{3} + g_{Y} \left( \frac{1}{3} + 2X \right) B_{\mu}, -g_{3L} A_{\mu}^{3} \right. \\ \left. + g_{Y} \left( \frac{1}{3} + 2X \right) B_{\mu}, g_{Y} \left( -\frac{2}{3} + 2X \right) B_{\mu} \right) \\ \left. + \frac{g_{Y}}{6} \operatorname{diag} \left( -6Xt_{X} + \frac{1}{t_{X}}, -6Xt_{X} + \frac{1}{t_{X}}, -6Xt_{X} - \frac{2}{t_{X}} \right) Z_{\mu}^{\prime}.$$
(73)

Clearly, the  $A^3_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$  terms from first two components recover the covariant derivatives in the EW theory with  $X = \frac{1}{3}$ . The off-diagonal components in Eq. (66) become

$$\frac{g_{3L}}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & W_{\mu}^{+} & C_{\mu}^{+} \\ W_{\mu}^{-} & 0 & N_{\mu} \\ C_{\mu}^{-} & \bar{N}_{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(74)

Below, we call five massive gauge bosons of

$$\left\{C_{\mu}^{\pm}, N_{\mu}, \bar{N}_{\mu}, Z_{\mu}'\right\}$$
(75)

at this stage of symmetry breaking as the 331 gauge bosons, while the remaining ones of  $\{W_{\mu}^{\pm}, A_{\mu}^{3}, B_{\mu}\}$  are the usual EW gauge bosons.

## A.2 The gauge couplings of fermions

The  $SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X$  covariant derivatives for chiral fermions in Table 1 are expressed as follows in terms of

gauge eigenstates

$$iD_{\mu}\mathcal{B}_{R}^{\rho} \supset g_{X}\left(-\frac{1}{3}\right)X_{\mu}\mathcal{B}_{R}^{\rho},$$
(76a)

$$i D_{\mu} \mathcal{L}_{L}^{\rho} \supset \left( -g_{3L} A_{\mu}^{a} \frac{(\lambda^{a})^{T}}{2} + g_{X} X_{\mu} \mathbb{I}_{3} \left( -\frac{1}{3} \right) \right) \mathcal{L}_{L}^{\rho},$$
(76b)

$$iD_{\mu}t_R \supset g_X\left(+\frac{2}{3}\right)X_{\mu}t_R,$$
(76c)

$$i D_{\mu} \mathcal{E}_R \supset \left( +g_{3L} A^a_{\mu} \frac{\lambda^a}{2} - g_X X_{\mu} \mathbb{I}_3 \frac{2}{3} \right) \mathcal{E}_R,$$
 (76d)

$$iD_{\mu}Q_L \supset g_{3L}A^a_{\mu}\frac{\lambda^a}{2}Q_L.$$
 (76e)

Analogous to the SM, we should find the charged currents and neutral currents for the  $SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X$  gauge bosons.

The flavor-changing  $SU(3)_W \otimes U(1)_X$  charged currents are mediated by  $C^{\pm}_{\mu}$  as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(3)_{W}}^{\mathrm{CC}} = \frac{g_{3L}}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \bar{t}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} B_{L} + \overline{N_{R}} \gamma^{\mu} \tau_{R} - \overline{\widetilde{N}_{L}^{1}} \gamma^{\mu} \tau_{L} - \overline{\widetilde{N}_{L}^{2}} \gamma^{\mu} E_{L} \right] C_{\mu}^{+} + H.c..$$
(77)

The SU(3)<sub>W</sub>  $\otimes$  U(1)<sub>X</sub> neutral currents contain both the flavor-changing components mediated by  $(N_{\mu}, \bar{N}_{\mu})$ , and the flavor-conserving components mediated by  $Z'_{\mu}$ . In the chiral basis, they read

$$\mathcal{L}_{SU(3)_{W}}^{NC,\frac{1}{K}} = \frac{g_{3L}}{\sqrt{2}} \Big[ \overline{\widetilde{N}_{L}^{1}} \gamma^{\mu} \nu_{L} + \overline{\widetilde{N}_{L}^{2}} \gamma^{\mu} N_{L} + \overline{E}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} \tau_{R} + \overline{b}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} B_{L} \Big] N_{\mu} + \frac{g_{3L}}{\sqrt{2}} \Big[ \overline{\nu}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \widetilde{N}_{L}^{1} + \overline{N}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \widetilde{N}_{L}^{2} + \overline{\tau}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} E_{R} + \overline{B_{L}} \gamma^{\mu} b_{L} \Big] \overline{N}_{\mu}$$
(78a)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(3)_{W}}^{\mathrm{NC},\mathrm{F}} = g_{Y} \Big[ \overline{t}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{6t_{X}} \right) t_{L} + \overline{b}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{6t_{X}} \right) b_{L} + \overline{B}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \left( -\frac{1}{3t_{X}} \right) B_{L} + \overline{t}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} \left( -\frac{2}{3} t_{X} \right) t_{R} + \overline{b}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{3} t_{X} \right) b_{R} + \overline{B}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{3} t_{X} \right) B_{R} + \overline{\tau}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{3} t_{X} - \frac{1}{6t_{X}} \right) \tau_{L} + \overline{\nu}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{3} t_{X} - \frac{1}{6t_{X}} \right) \nu_{L} + \overline{E}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{3} t_{X} - \frac{1}{6t_{X}} \right) E_{L} + \overline{N}_{L} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{3} t_{X} - \frac{1}{6t_{X}} \right) N_{L} + \overline{N}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{2}{3} t_{X} + \frac{1}{6t_{X}} \right) N_{R} + \overline{N}_{L}^{1} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{3} t_{X} + \frac{1}{3t_{X}} \right) \widetilde{N}_{L}^{1} + \overline{\widetilde{N}_{L}^{2}} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{3} t_{X} + \frac{1}{3t_{X}} \right) \widetilde{N}_{L}^{2} + \overline{E}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{2}{3} t_{X} + \frac{1}{6t_{X}} \right) E_{R} + \overline{\tau}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} \left( \frac{2}{3} t_{X} - \frac{1}{3t_{X}} \right) \tau_{R} \Big] Z'_{\mu}.$$
(78b)

Apparently, the EW charged currents should reproduce the SM case, which are

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(2)_W}^{\mathrm{CC}} = \frac{g_{3L}}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \overline{t}_L \gamma^\mu b_L + \overline{\tau}_L \gamma^\mu \nu_L \right] W^+_\mu + H.c.$$
(79)

## A.3 The mass matrices of the Higgs bosons

The matrix elements for the charged Higgs bosons in Eq. (32) read

$$M_{\phi_1^+\phi_1^-}^2 = \frac{v_u \left[\sqrt{2}v \left(s_{\vec{\beta}}^2 (v_{\phi}^2 - V_{331}^2) - v_{\phi}^2\right) + \kappa_3 V_{331} v_{\phi} v_u\right]}{2V_{331} v_{\phi}}, \quad (80a)$$

$$M_{\phi_1^{\pm}\phi_2^{\mp}}^2 = \frac{v v_{u} s_{\tilde{\beta}} c_{\tilde{\beta}} (V_{331}^2 - v_{\phi}^2)}{\sqrt{2} V_{331} v_{\phi}},$$
(80b)

$$M_{\phi_2^+\phi_2^-}^2 = \frac{v_u \left[\sqrt{2}v \left(c_{\vec{\beta}}^2 (v_{\phi}^2 - V_{331}^2) - v_{\phi}^2\right) + \kappa_4 V_{331} v_{\phi} v_u\right]}{2V_{331} v_{\phi}}, \quad (80c)$$

$$M_{\phi_1^{\pm}\chi_1^{\mp}}^2 = \frac{1}{2} s_{\tilde{\beta}} (\kappa_3 v_{\phi} v_u - \sqrt{2} v V_{331}),$$
(80d)

$$M_{\phi_1^{\pm}\chi_2^{\mp}}^2 = \frac{1}{2} c_{\tilde{\beta}} (\kappa_3 V_{331} v_u - \sqrt{2} v v_{\phi}), \qquad (80e)$$

$$M_{\phi_{2}^{\pm}\chi_{1}^{\mp}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}c_{\tilde{\beta}}(\sqrt{2}\nu V_{331} - \kappa_{4}v_{\phi}v_{u}), \qquad (80f)$$

$$M_{\phi_{2}^{\pm}\chi_{2}^{\mp}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} s_{\tilde{\beta}} (\kappa_{4} V_{331} v_{u} - \sqrt{2} v v_{\phi}), \qquad (80g)$$

$$M_{\chi_{1}^{+}\chi_{1}^{-}}^{2} = \frac{v_{\phi}(-\sqrt{2}vV_{331} + \kappa_{3}v_{\phi}v_{u}s_{\tilde{\beta}}^{2} + \kappa_{4}v_{\phi}v_{u}c_{\tilde{\beta}}^{2})}{2v_{u}},$$
(80h)

$$M_{\chi_1^{\pm}\chi_2^{\mp}}^2 = \frac{1}{4} V_{331} v_{\phi} s_{2\tilde{\beta}}(\kappa_3 - \kappa_4),$$
(80i)

$$M_{\chi_{2}^{+}\chi_{2}^{-}}^{2} = \frac{V_{331}(\kappa_{3}V_{331}v_{u}c_{\tilde{\beta}}^{2} + \kappa_{4}V_{331}v_{u}s_{\tilde{\beta}}^{2} - \sqrt{2}vv_{\phi})}{2v_{u}}.$$
 (80j)

The matrix elements for the CP-odd Higgs bosons in Eq.  $(\mathbf{36})$  read

$$M_{\pi_u\pi_u}^2 = -\frac{vV_{331}v_{\phi}}{\sqrt{2}v_u},$$
(81a)

$$M_{\pi_u\eta_1}^2 = \frac{\nu_{331}s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{\sqrt{2}},$$
(81b)

$$M_{\pi_{u}\eta_{2}}^{2} = -\frac{(\gamma_{331}c_{\beta})}{\sqrt{2}},$$
(81c)

$$M_{\pi_u\pi_1}^2 = \frac{\varphi \rho}{\sqrt{2}},\tag{81d}$$

$$M_{\pi_u\pi_2}^2 = \frac{-r_p}{\sqrt{2}},\tag{81e}$$

$$M_{\eta_1\eta_1}^2 = \frac{1}{2} v_{\phi}^2 c_{\bar{\beta}}^2 (\lambda_4 - \lambda_5) - \frac{v v_u \left[ s_{\bar{\beta}}^2 (V_{331}^2 - v_{\phi}^2) + v_{\phi}^2 \right]}{\sqrt{2} V_{331} v_{\phi}}, \qquad (81f)$$

$$M_{\eta_1\eta_2}^2 = \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}c_{\tilde{\beta}} \left[\sqrt{2}\nu (V_{331}^2 - v_{\phi}^2)v_u + V_{331}v_{\phi}^3(\lambda_4 - \lambda_5)\right]}{2V_{331}v_{\phi}}, \qquad (81g)$$

$$M_{\pi_1\eta_1}^2 = \frac{1}{4} V_{331} v_{\phi} s_{2\tilde{\beta}}(\lambda_5 - \lambda_4), \tag{81h}$$

$$M_{\pi_2\eta_1}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left[ V_{331} v_{\phi} c_{\bar{\beta}}^2 (\lambda_4 - \lambda_5) - \sqrt{2} v v_u \right],$$
(81i)

$$M_{\eta_2\eta_2}^2 = \frac{\nu v_{\mu} \left[ c_{\tilde{\beta}}^2 (v_{\phi}^2 - V_{331}^2) - v_{\phi}^2 \right]}{\sqrt{2} V_{331} v_{\phi}} + \frac{1}{2} v_{\phi}^2 s_{\tilde{\beta}}^2 (\lambda_4 - \lambda_5), \tag{81j}$$

$$M_{\pi_1\eta_2}^2 = \frac{1}{2} V_{331} v_{\phi} s_{\beta}^2 (\lambda_5 - \lambda_4) + \frac{v v_u}{\sqrt{2}},$$
(81k)

$$M_{\pi_2\eta_2}^2 = \frac{1}{4} V_{331} v_{\phi} s_{2\tilde{\beta}}(\lambda_4 - \lambda_5), \tag{811}$$

$$M_{\pi_1\pi_1}^2 = \frac{1}{2} V_{331}^2 s_{\tilde{\beta}}^2 (\lambda_4 - \lambda_5) + \frac{v v_u \left[ s_{\tilde{\beta}}^2 (v_{\phi}^2 - V_{331}^2) - v_{\phi}^2 \right]}{\sqrt{2} V_{331} v_{\phi}}, \quad (81\text{m})$$

$$M_{\pi_1\pi_2}^2 = \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}c_{\tilde{\beta}} \left[ V_{331}^3 v_{\phi}(\lambda_5 - \lambda_4) + \sqrt{2}v(V_{331}^2 - v_{\phi}^2)v_u \right]}{2V_{331}v_{\phi}}, \qquad (81n)$$

$$M_{\pi_2\pi_2}^2 = \frac{1}{2} V_{331}^2 c_{\tilde{\beta}}^2 (\lambda_4 - \lambda_5) + \frac{\nu v_u \left[ c_{\tilde{\beta}}^2 (v_{\phi}^2 - V_{331}^2) - v_{\phi}^2 \right]}{\sqrt{2} V_{331} v_{\phi}}.$$
 (810)

The matrix elements for the CP-even Higgs bosons in Eq. (40) read

$$M_{h_{u}h_{u}}^{2} = 2\lambda v_{u}^{2} - \frac{\nu V_{331} v_{\phi}}{\sqrt{2} v_{u}},$$
(82a)

$$M_{h_{u}\phi^{0}}^{2} = -\frac{\sqrt{2}\nu V_{331}^{2} + 2V_{331}v_{\phi}v_{u}(\kappa_{1} + \kappa_{2}) + \sqrt{2}\nu v_{\phi}^{2}}{2\sqrt{V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2}}},$$
(82b)

$$\begin{split} M_{\phi^0\phi^0}^2 &= -\frac{1}{V_{331}v_{\phi}\left(V_{331}^2 + v_{\phi}^2\right)} \left[ -V_{331}^3 v_{\phi}^3 (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + 2\lambda_3) \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} (V_{331}^2 - v_{\phi}^2)^2 v_u \right], \end{split} \tag{82c}$$

$$M_{h_{u}h_{1}'}^{2} = v_{u}s_{\tilde{\beta}}c_{\tilde{\beta}}(\kappa_{1} - \kappa_{2})\sqrt{V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2}},$$
(82d)

$$M_{h_{u}h_{2}'}^{2} = \frac{v_{u} \left[ s_{\tilde{\beta}}^{2} (\kappa_{2} V_{331}^{2} - \kappa_{1} v_{\phi}^{2}) + c_{\tilde{\beta}}^{2} (\kappa_{1} V_{331}^{2} - \kappa_{2} v_{\phi}^{2}) \right]}{\sqrt{V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2}}}, \qquad (82e)$$

$$M_{\phi^0 h_1'}^2 = V_{331} v_{\phi} s_{\tilde{\beta}} c_{\tilde{\beta}} (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1),$$
(82f)

$$M_{\phi^0 h'_2}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left[ V_{331} v_{\phi} c_{2\tilde{\beta}} (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1) - \frac{(V_{331}^2 - v_{\phi}^2) \left( V_{331} v_{\phi} (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + 2\lambda_3) + 2\sqrt{2} v v_u \right)}{V_{331}^2 + v_{\phi}^2} \right],$$
(82g)

$$M_{h'_{1}h'_{1}}^{2} = -\frac{1}{8V_{331}v_{\phi}} \left( V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2} \right) \left( V_{331}v_{\phi}c_{4\tilde{\beta}}(\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} - 2(\lambda_{3} + \lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})) - V_{331}v_{\phi}(\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} + 2(-\lambda_{3} + \lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})) + 4\sqrt{2}vv_{u}), \quad (82h)$$

$$M_{h_{1}'h_{2}'}^{2} = \frac{1}{4} s_{2\tilde{\beta}} \left[ c_{2\tilde{\beta}} \left( V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2} \right) (\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} - 2(\lambda_{3} + \lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})) + (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})(V_{331}^{2} - v_{\phi}^{2}) \right], \quad (82i)$$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{M}_{h_{2}'h_{2}'}^{2} &= \frac{1}{8\left(V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2}\right)} \left[ (V_{331}^{4} + v_{\phi}^{4})(3\lambda_{1} + 3\lambda_{2} \\ &+ 2(\lambda_{3} + \lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})) + c_{4\tilde{\beta}} \left(V_{331}^{2} + v_{\phi}^{2}\right)^{2} (\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} \\ &- 2(\lambda_{3} + \lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})) + 4c_{2\tilde{\beta}} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}) \left(V_{331}^{4} - v_{\phi}^{4}\right) \\ &- 2V_{331}^{2} v_{\phi}^{2} (\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} + 6\lambda_{3} - 2(\lambda_{4} + \lambda_{5})) - 16\sqrt{2}v \\ &V_{331} v_{\phi} v_{u}) \right]. \end{split}$$
(82j)

# A.4 The Yukawa couplings of fermions

1

In terms of the fermion mass eigenstates of (b', B'), the CPodd and CP-even Higgs Yukawa couplings are expressed as follows

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathcal{Q},0^{-}} \supset im_{b}\overline{b'_{L}}b'_{R}(\zeta_{1}\eta_{1}+\zeta_{2}\eta_{2}+\zeta_{3}\pi_{1}+\zeta_{4}\pi_{2}) +im_{B}\overline{b'_{L}}B'_{R}(\zeta'_{1}\eta_{1}+\zeta'_{2}\eta_{2}+\zeta'_{3}\pi_{1}+\zeta'_{4}\pi_{2}) +im_{b}\overline{B'_{L}}b'_{R}(-\zeta_{3}\eta_{1}-\zeta_{4}\eta_{2}+\zeta_{1}\pi_{1}+\zeta_{2}\pi_{2}) +im_{B}\overline{B'_{L}}B'_{R}(-\zeta'_{3}\eta_{1}-\zeta'_{4}\eta_{2}+\zeta'_{1}\pi_{1}+\zeta'_{2}\pi_{2}) + H.c., (83a) 
$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathcal{Q},0^{+}} \supset m_{b}\overline{b'_{L}}b'_{R}(\zeta_{1}\phi_{1}+\zeta_{2}\phi_{2}+\zeta_{3}h_{1}+\zeta_{4}h_{2})$$$$

$$+m_{B}b'_{L}B'_{R}\left(\zeta_{1}'\phi_{1}+\zeta_{2}'\phi_{2}+\zeta_{3}'h_{1}+\zeta_{4}'h_{2}\right) +m_{b}\overline{B'_{L}}b'_{R}\left(-\zeta_{3}\phi_{1}-\zeta_{4}\phi_{2}+\zeta_{1}h_{1}+\zeta_{2}h_{2}\right) +m_{B}\overline{B'_{L}}B'_{R}\left(-\zeta_{3}'\phi_{1}-\zeta_{4}'\phi_{2}+\zeta_{1}'h_{1}+\zeta_{2}'h_{2}\right) + H.c.,$$
(83b)

where we parametrize the couplings as follows

$$\zeta_{1} = c_{L}^{2} \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} - s_{L} c_{L} \frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}}, \quad \zeta_{1}' = s_{L} c_{L} \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + c_{L}^{2} \frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}},$$

$$\zeta_{2} = -c_{L}^{2} \frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} - s_{L} c_{L} \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{221}}, \quad \zeta_{2}' = -s_{L} c_{L} \frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + c_{L}^{2} \frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{221}},$$
(84a)

$$\zeta_{3} = -s_{L}c_{L}\frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + s_{L}^{2}\frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}}, \quad \zeta_{3}' = -s_{L}^{2}\frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} - s_{L}c_{L}\frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}},$$
(84c)

$$\zeta_{4} = s_{L}c_{L}\frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} + s_{L}^{2}\frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}}, \quad \zeta_{4}' = s_{L}^{2}\frac{c_{\tilde{\beta}}}{v_{\phi}} - s_{L}c_{L}\frac{s_{\tilde{\beta}}}{V_{331}}.$$
(84d)

For the fermion mass eigenstates of  $(\tau', E')$ , their Yukawa couplings can be obtained by replacing  $(m_b, m_B) \rightarrow (m_\tau, -m_E)$  in the above Eqs. (83a) and (83b).

#### References

- H. Georgi, S.L. Glashow, Unity of all elementary particle forces. Phys. Rev. Lett. **32**, 438–441 (1974). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.32.438
- H. Fritzsch, P. Minkowski, Unified interactions of leptons and hadrons. Ann. Phys. 93, 193–266 (1975). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0003-4916(75)90211-0
- H. Georgi, Towards a grand unified theory of flavor. Nucl. Phys. B 156, 126–134 (1979). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0550-3213(79)90497-8
- P.H. Frampton, SU(N) grand unification with several quark-lepton generations. Phys. Lett. B 88, 299–301 (1979). https://doi.org/10. 1016/0370-2693(79)90472-6
- P.H. Frampton, Unification of flavor. Phys. Lett. B 89, 352–354 (1980). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(80)90140-9
- S.M. Barr, Doubly lopsided mass matrices from unitary unification. Phys. Rev. D 78, 075001 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.78.075001. arXiv:0804.1356
- S.M. Barr, Doubly lopsided mass matrices from supersymmetric SU(N) unification. Phys. Rev. D 78, 055008 (2008). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.78.055008. arXiv:0805.4808

- S. Dimopoulos, L. Susskind, Mass without scalars. Nucl. Phys. B 155, 237–252 (1979). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0550-3213(79)90364-X
- E. Eichten, K.D. Lane, Dynamical breaking of weak interaction symmetries. Phys. Lett. B 90, 125–130 (1980). https://doi.org/10. 1016/0370-2693(80)90065-9
- E. Farhi, L. Susskind, Technicolor. Phys. Rep. 74, 277 (1981). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-1573(81)90173-3
- C.T. Hill, E.H. Simmons, Strong dynamics and electroweak symmetry breaking. Phys. Rep. 381, 235–402 (2003). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0370-1573(03)00140-6. arXiv:hep-ph/0203079
- T. Appelquist, M. Piai, R. Shrock, Fermion masses and mixing in extended technicolor models. Phys. Rev. D 69, 015002 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.69.015002. arXiv:hep-ph/0308061
- ATLAS collaboration, G. Aad et al., Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC. Phys. Lett. B 716, 1–29 (2012). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.physletb.2012.08.020. arXiv:1207.7214
- CMS Collaboration, S. Chatrchyan et al., Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC. Phys. Lett. B **716**, 30–61 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.physletb.2012.08.021. arXiv:1207.7235
- H.M. Georgi, L.J. Hall, M.B. Wise, Grand unified models with an automatic Peccei–Quinn symmetry. Nucl. Phys. B **192**, 409–416 (1981). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(81)90433-8
- R.D. Peccei, H.R. Quinn, CP conservation in the presence of instantons. Phys. Rev. Lett. 38, 1440–1443 (1977). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.38.1440
- S. Dimopoulos, S. Raby, L. Susskind, Light composite fermions. Nucl. Phys. B **173**, 208–228 (1980). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0550-3213(80)90215-1
- S.M. Barr, D. Seckel, Planck scale corrections to axion models. Phys. Rev. D 46, 539–549 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.46.539
- M. Kamionkowski, J. March-Russell, Planck scale physics and the Peccei–Quinn mechanism. Phys. Lett. B 282, 137– 141 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(92)90492-M. arXiv:hep-th/9202003
- R. Holman, S.D.H. Hsu, T.W. Kephart, E.W. Kolb, R. Watkins, L.M. Widrow, Solutions to the strong CP problem in a world with gravity. Phys. Lett. B 282, 132–136 (1992). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0370-2693(92)90491-L. arXiv:hep-ph/9203206
- N. Chen, High-quality grand unified theories with three generations \*. Chin. Phys. C 46, 053107 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1674-1137/ac5010. arXiv:2108.08690
- 22. B.W. Lee, S. Weinberg, SU(3) × U(1) gauge theory of the weak and electromagnetic interactions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 38, 1237 (1977). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.38.1237
- B.W. Lee, R.E. Shrock, An SU(3) x U(1) theory of weak and electromagnetic interactions. Phys. Rev. D 17, 2410 (1978). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.17.2410
- 24. F. Pisano, V. Pleitez, An SU(3) × U(1) model for electroweak interactions. Phys. Rev. D 46, 410–417 (1992). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.46.410. arXiv:hep-ph/9206242
- R. Foot, O.F. Hernandez, F. Pisano, V. Pleitez, Lepton masses in an SU(3)-L × U(1)-N gauge model. Phys. Rev. D 47, 4158–4161 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.47.4158. arXiv:hep-ph/9207264
- J.C. Montero, F. Pisano, V. Pleitez, Neutral currents and GIM mechanism in SU(3)-L × U(1)-N models for electroweak interactions. Phys. Rev. D 47, 2918–2929 (1993). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.47.2918. arXiv:hep-ph/9212271
- D. Ng, The electroweak theory of SU(3) × U(1). Phys. Rev. D 49, 4805–4811 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.49. 4805. arXiv:hep-ph/9212284

- J.T. Liu, D. Ng, Lepton flavor changing processes and CP violation in the 331 model. Phys. Rev. D 50, 548–557 (1994). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.50.548. arXiv:hep-ph/9401228
- P.B. Pal, The strong CP question in SU(3)(C) × SU(3)(L) x U(1)(N) models. Phys. Rev. D 52, 1659–1662 (1995). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.52.1659. arXiv:hep-ph/9411406
- H.N. Long, The 331 model with right handed neutrinos. Phys. Rev. D 53, 437–445 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.53.437. arXiv:hep-ph/9504274
- M.D. Tonasse, The scalar sector of 3-3-1 models. Phys. Lett. B 381, 191–201 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(96)00481-9. arXiv:hep-ph/9605230
- W.A. Ponce, Y. Giraldo, L.A. Sanchez, Minimal scalar sector of 3-3-1 models without exotic electric charges. Phys. Rev. D 67,075001 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.67.075001. arXiv:hep-ph/0210026
- A.G. Dias, V. Pleitez, Stabilizing the invisible axion in 3-3-1 models. Phys. Rev. D 69, 077702 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.69.077702. arXiv:hep-ph/0308037
- A.G. Dias, R. Martinez, V. Pleitez, Concerning the Landau pole in 3-3-1 models. Eur. Phys. J. C 39, 101–107 (2005). https://doi.org/ 10.1140/epjc/s2004-02083-0. arXiv:hep-ph/0407141
- J.G. Ferreira, Jr, P.R.D. Pinheiro, C.A.d.S. Pires, P.S.R. da Silva, The minimal 3-3-1 model with only two Higgs triplets. Phys. Rev. D 84, 095019 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.84.095019. arXiv:1109.0031
- P.V. Dong, H.N. Long, H.T. Hung, Question of Peccei–Quinn symmetry and quark masses in the economical 3-3-1 model. Phys. Rev. D 86, 033002 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.86. 033002. arXiv:1205.5648
- A.J. Buras, F. De Fazio, J. Girrbach, M.V. Carlucci, The anatomy of quark flavour observables in 331 models in the flavour precision era. JHEP 02, 023 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP02(2013)023. arXiv:1211.1237
- A.C.B. Machado, J.C. Montero, V. Pleitez, Flavor-changing neutral currents in the minimal 3-3-1 model revisited. Phys. Rev. D 88, 113002 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.88.113002. arXiv:1305.1921
- 39. A.J. Buras, F. De Fazio, J. Girrbach, 331 models facing new  $b \rightarrow s\mu^+\mu^-$  data. JHEP **02**, 112 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP02(2014)112. arXiv:1311.6729
- S.M. Boucenna, S. Morisi, J.W.F. Valle, Radiative neutrino mass in 3-3-1 scheme. Phys. Rev. D 90, 013005 (2014). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.90.013005. arXiv:1405.2332
- S.M. Boucenna, R.M. Fonseca, F. Gonzalez-Canales, J.W.F. Valle, Small neutrino masses and gauge coupling unification. Phys. Rev. D 91, 031702 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.91. 031702. arXiv:1411.0566
- S.M. Boucenna, J.W.F. Valle, A. Vicente, Predicting charged lepton flavor violation from 3-3-1 gauge symmetry. Phys. Rev. D 92, 053001 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.92.053001. arXiv:1502.07546
- F.F. Deppisch, C. Hati, S. Patra, U. Sarkar, J.W.F. Valle, 331 Models and grand unification: from minimal SU(5) to minimal SU(6). Phys. Lett. B 762, 432–440 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb. 2016.10.002. arXiv:1608.05334
- Q.-H. Cao, D.-M. Zhang, Collider phenomenology of the 3-3-1 model. arXiv:1611.09337
- 45. T. Li, J. Pei, F. Xu, W. Zhang, SU(3)<sub>C</sub> × SU(3)<sub>L</sub> × U(1)<sub>X</sub> model from SU(6). Phys. Rev. D 102, 016004 (2020). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.102.016004. arXiv:1911.09551
- N. Chen, Y. Liu, Z. Teng, Axion model with the SU(6) unification. Phys. Rev. D 104, 115011 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.104.115011. arXiv:2106.00223
- A.E. Cárcamo Hernández, S. Kovalenko, F.S. Queiroz, Y.S. Villamizar, An extended 3-3-1 model with radiative linear seesaw

mechanism. Phys. Lett. B **829**, 137082 (2022). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.physletb.2022.137082. arXiv:2105.01731

- A.J. Buras, P. Colangelo, F. De Fazio, F. Loparco, The charm of 331. JHEP 10, 021 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP10(2021)021. arXiv:2107.10866
- A.E.C. Hernández, C. Hati, S. Kovalenko, J.W.F. Valle, C.A. Vaquera-Araujo, Scotogenic neutrino masses with gauged matter parity and gauge coupling unification. JHEP 03, 034 (2022). https:// doi.org/10.1007/JHEP03(2022)034. arXiv:2109.05029
- A. Alves, L. Duarte, S. Kovalenko, Y.M. Oviedo-Torres, F.S. Queiroz, Y.S. Villamizar, Constraining 3-3-1 models at the LHC and future hadron colliders. Phys. Rev. D 106, 055027 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.106.055027. arXiv:2203.02520
- L.J. Hall, H. Murayama, N. Weiner, Neutrino mass anarchy. Phys. Rev. Lett. 84, 2572–2575 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.84.2572. arXiv:hep-ph/9911341
- N. Haba, H. Murayama, Anarchy and hierarchy. Phys. Rev. D 63, 053010 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.63.053010. arXiv:hep-ph/0009174
- R. Feger, T.W. Kephart, LieART—a Mathematica application for Lie algebras and representation theory. Comput. Phys. Commun. 192, 166–195 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpc.2014.12.023. arXiv:1206.6379
- R. Feger, T.W. Kephart, R.J. Saskowski, LieART 2.0—a Mathematica application for Lie algebras and representation theory. Comput. Phys. Commun. 257, 107490 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpc. 2020.107490. arXiv:1912.10969
- 55. Z. Chacko, P.S.B. Dev, R.N. Mohapatra, A. Thapa, Predictive Dirac and Majorana neutrino mass textures from SU(6) grand unified theories. Phys. Rev. D 102, 035020 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.102.035020. arXiv:2005.05413
- 56. CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Search for charged Higgs bosons in the H<sup>±</sup> → τ<sup>±</sup>ν<sub>τ</sub> decay channel in proton-proton collisions at √s = 13 TeV. JHEP 07, 142 (2019). https://doi.org/10. 1007/JHEP07(2019)142. arXiv:1903.04560
- 57. ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Search for heavy neutral Higgs bosons produced in association with *b*-quarks and decaying into *b*-quarks at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector. Phys. Rev. D **102**, 032004 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 102.032004. arXiv:1907.02749
- 58. CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Search for heavy Higgs bosons decaying to a top quark pair in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV. JHEP **04**, 171 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP04(2020)171. arXiv:1908.01115
- 59. CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Search for a charged Higgs boson decaying into top and bottom quarks in events with electrons or muons in proton–proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ . JHEP **01**, 096 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP01(2020)096. arXiv:1908.09206
- 60. CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Search for a heavy pseudoscalar Higgs boson decaying into a 125 GeV Higgs boson and a Z boson in final states with two tau and two light leptons at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV. JHEP **03**, 065 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP03(2020)065. arXiv:1910.11634
- 61. CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Search for new neutral Higgs bosons through the H→ ZA → ℓ<sup>+</sup>ℓ<sup>-</sup>b process in pp collisions at √s = 13 TeV. JHEP 03, 055 (2020). https://doi.org/10. 1007/JHEP03(2020)055. arXiv:1911.03781
- 62. CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Search for a heavy Higgs boson decaying to a pair of W bosons in proton–proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV. JHEP **03**, 034 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP03(2020)034. arXiv:1912.01594
- 63. CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Search for charged Higgs bosons decaying into a top and a bottom quark in the all-jet final

state of pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV. JHEP **07**, 126 (2020). https:// doi.org/10.1007/JHEP07(2020)126. arXiv:2001.07763

- 64. ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Search for heavy Higgs bosons decaying into two tau leptons with the ATLAS detector using *pp* collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV. Phys. Rev. Lett. 125, 051801 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.125.051801. arXiv:2002.12223
- 65. ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Search for heavy resonances decaying into a pair of Z bosons in the  $\ell^+ \ell^- \ell'^+ \ell'^-$  and  $\ell^+ \ell^- \nu \bar{\nu}$  final states using 139 fb<sup>-1</sup> of proton–proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector. Eur. Phys. J. C **81**, 332 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-09013-y. arXiv:2009.14791
- 66. ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Search for a heavy Higgs boson decaying into a Z boson and another heavy Higgs boson in the  $\ell\ell bb$  and  $\ell\ell WW$  final states in *pp* collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \ TeV$  with the ATLAS detector. Eur. Phys. J. C **81**, 396 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-09117-5. arXiv:2011.05639
- 67. ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Search for charged Higgs bosons decaying into a top quark and a bottom quark at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector. JHEP **06**, 145 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP06(2021)145. arXiv:2102.10076
- S.P. Martin, A supersymmetry primer. Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys. 18, 1–98 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1142/ 9789812839657\_0001. arXiv:hep-ph/9709356
- J.E. Kim, H.P. Nilles, The mu problem and the strong CP problem. Phys. Lett. B 138, 150–154 (1984). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0370-2693(84)91890-2
- H. Murayama, H. Suzuki, T. Yanagida, Radiative breaking of Peccei–Quinn symmetry at the intermediate mass scale. Phys. Lett. B 291, 418–425 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0370-2693(92)91397-R
- Particle Data Group Collaboration, P.A. Zyla et al., Review of particle physics. PTEP 2020, 083C01 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1093/ ptep/ptaa104
- 72. ATLAS Collaboration, M. Aaboud et al., Observation of  $H \rightarrow b\bar{b}$  decays and *V H* production with the ATLAS detector. Phys. Lett. B **786**, 59–86 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2018.09. 013. arXiv:1808.08238
- CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Observation of Higgs boson decay to bottom quarks. Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 121801 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.121801. arXiv:1605.05081
- 74. MEG Collaboration, A.M. Baldini et al., Search for the lepton flavour violating decay  $\mu^+ \rightarrow e^+\gamma$  with the full dataset of the MEG experiment. Eur. Phys. J. C **76**, 434 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-4271-x. arXiv:1605.05081
- A.J. Buras, J.R. Ellis, M.K. Gaillard, D.V. Nanopoulos, Aspects of the grand unification of strong, weak and electromagnetic interactions. Nucl. Phys. B 135, 66–92 (1978). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0550-3213(78)90214-6
- CMS Collaboration, A.M. Sirunyan et al., Observation of the Higgs boson decay to a pair of τ leptons with the CMS detector. Phys. Lett. B 779, 283–316 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb. 2018.02.004. arXiv:1708.00373
- 77. ATLAS Collaboration, M. Aaboud et al., Cross-section measurements of the Higgs boson decaying into a pair of τ-leptons in proton–proton collisions at √s = 13 TeV with the ATLAS detector. Phys. Rev. D 99, 072001 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99.072001. arXiv:1811.08856

- H. Georgi, S.L. Glashow, Spontaneously broken gauge symmetry and elementary particle masses. Phys. Rev. D 6, 2977–2982 (1972). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.6.2977
- 79. H. Georgi, S.L. Glashow, Attempts to calculate the electron mass. Phys. Rev. D 7, 2457–2463 (1973). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.7.2457
- S.M. Barr, A. Zee, A new approach to the electron-muon mass ratio. Phys. Rev. D 15, 2652 (1977). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 15.2652
- S.M. Barr, A. Zee, Calculating the electron mass in terms of measured quantities. Phys. Rev. D 17, 1854 (1978). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.17.1854
- S.M. Barr, Light fermion mass hierarchy and grand unification. Phys. Rev. D 21, 1424 (1980). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 21.1424
- L.E. Ibanez, Radiative fermion masses in grand unified theories. Nucl. Phys. B 193, 317–367 (1981). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0550-3213(81)90337-0
- E. Ma, Verifiable radiative seesaw mechanism of neutrino mass and dark matter. Phys. Rev. D 73, 077301 (2006). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.73.077301. arXiv:hep-ph/0601225
- B.A. Dobrescu, P.J. Fox, Quark and lepton masses from top loops. JHEP 08, 100 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2008/ 08/100. arXiv:0805.0822
- S. Weinberg, Models of lepton and quark masses. Phys. Rev.D 101, 035020 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.101.035020. arXiv:2001.06582
- N. Chen, Y.N. Mao, Z. Teng, B. Wang, X. Zhao, arXiv:2209.11446 [hep-ph]